
 

For information relating to this meeting or to request a copy in another format or 
language please contact: 

Kate Spencer, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR  
01803 207063 

Email: scrutiny@torbay.gov.uk  

(1) 

 

 

Friday, 19 February 2016 
 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 
 

A meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Board will be held on 
 

Monday, 29 February 2016 
 

commencing at 1.00 pm 
 

The meeting will be held in the Meadfoot Room, Town Hall, Castle Circus, 
Torquay, TQ1 3DR 

 
 
 

Members of the Board 

Councillor Lewis (Chairman) 

Councillor Barnby 

Councillor Bent 

Councillor Bye 

Councillor Darling (S) 

 

Councillor Stockman 

Councillor Stocks 

Councillor Tolchard 

Councillor Tyerman 

 

Co-opted Members of the Board 

Penny Burnside, Diocese of Exeter 

 

 

 

A prosperous and healthy Torbay 



 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 
AGENDA 

 
1.   Apologies  
 To receive apologies for absence, including notifications of any 

changes to the membership of the Committee. 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 a) To receive declarations of non pecuniary interests in respect 

of items on this agenda 
 

For reference:  Having declared their non pecuniary interest 
members may remain in the meeting and speak and, vote on the 
matter in question.  A completed disclosure of interests form 
should be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the 
meeting. 

 
b) To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in 

respect of items on this agenda 
 

For reference:  Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary 
interest he/she must leave the meeting during consideration of the 
item.  However, the Member may remain in the meeting to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence if the public 
have a right to do so, but having done so the Member must then 
immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and must not 
improperly seek to influence the outcome of the matter.  A 
completed disclosure of interests form should be returned to the 
Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting. 
 
(Please Note:  If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on 
any potential interests they may have, they should contact 
Governance Support or Legal Services prior to the meeting.) 

 
3.   Urgent Items  
 To consider any other items that the Chairman decides are urgent. 

 
4.   Baytree House, Torquay (Pages 3 - 79) 
 To consider the draft consultation document in relation to the future 

of Baytree House short breaks unit for people with learning 
disabilities in Torbay. 
 

5.   GeoPlay Park, Paignton - Proposed Amendment to Lease (Pages 80 - 91) 
 To consider a proposal to amendment the lease for the GeoPlay 

Park in Paignton.  
 



 

REPORT SUMMARY SHEET 

Meeting  Date: 
 

Board meeting 2nd March 2016.   

Title: 
 

Public consultation on the future of Baytree House short breaks unit for 
people with learning disabilities in Torbay. 
 

Lead Director: 
 

Liz Davenport, Chief Operating Officer.   

Corporate 
Objective: 

 

Purpose: 
 

For the Board to make a decision with respect to the future of Baytree 
House Short Breaks facility following the recent public consultation.  
 

Summary of Key Issues for Trust Board 

Strategic Context: 
 

On 2nd December 2015 the Trust board made the decision to proceed with a public consultation 

with respect to the future of Baytree House short breaks unit. The consultation ran from 4th 

December 2015 and closed on February 5th 2016. The proposal was to close Baytree House in 

April 2016 and re-provide these beds nights in the independent sector. For all those using 

Baytree House as a short breaks option, the Trust gave its commitment to ensure support and 

planning for people was available, to help them use personal budgets to meet their outcomes and 

manage their money to support a new short break of their choice.     

 

This proposal forms part of the 2014 NHS Learning Disability Operational Commissioning 

Strategy. This document set out why it is necessary to deliver changes in learning disability 

services in Torbay and examines the types of services which need to be provided now and in the 

future. It also describes what needs to change locally to modernise services and enhance the 

lives of people with a learning disability in a challenging financial climate. The strategy explained 

that the NHS in due course would no longer be a direct provider of learning disability services and 

that we would be implementing a change programme in all areas of provision.  

 
The Baytree House short breaks service is situated in a large traditional Torbay Victorian Villa. 
The building is located in Croft Road, Torquay and is owned by Torbay Council and leased to the 
NHS. Currently Baytree has a maximum capacity of eight beds; however the average occupancy 
in 14/15 was 3.6 residents per week, and in 15/16 thus far 4 residents per week, with the majority 
of placements made at the weekends. This gives an occupancy rate of 45 to 50 per cent. The   
revenue cost of the unit including staffing costs is £509,000 per year.   
 
There is also a well evidenced change in the demographics of people with learning disabilities. 
The  numbers of people with profound and multiple disabilities is going up, and although it is good 
news that many people with a learning disability now enjoy a longer life expectancy it does mean 
that the service has seen an increase in the  physical frailty and mobility problems that are 
associated with old age. Therefore Baytree is not always the best care setting for individuals with 
these more complex needs.  
 
Our change programme for people with learning disability has used a “co-design” model. This 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



involved a series of meeting with parents and carers, prior to formal consultation, to seek their 
views and help shape proposals. A series of these meetings occurred last year ahead of the 
public consultation and Carers of Baytree users were invited to these sessions along with other   
interested parties attended. During the co-design the Trust had discussed new options for short 
breaks and looked at ways in which carers can use and combine their personal budget 
allowances to find better-suited alternatives to current provision. This included a session with five 
independent sector providers of bed based and alternative community based short breaks. The 
Trust also shared its rationale for change to ensure reliability and financial sustainability in 
services. 
 

Key Issues/Risks  
 

1. Finding suitable alternatives for carers in the independent sector if Baytree closes.  
2. If the unit does not close the financial savings required will not be delivered elsewhere in 

learning disability services or adult social care.  
3. Public opposition to closing a long standing service.  

 
Recommendations: 
 

a. That Baytree House should in due course close and the short break beds nights should 
alternatively be sourced in the independent sector.  

b. That a transitional period to 30/6/16 occurs before the decision to close is implemented.  
c. That Adult Social Care Commissioners in partnership with the Support Planning Services 

are tasked urgently over the next four months to work closely with provider to develop and 
secure satisfactory provision.  

d. That the Board consider their monitoring requirements. It is recommended the Board in 
due course receive a written update with respect to progress if the decision is made to 
close the unit and secondly that the Learning Disability Partnership Board also take an 
appropriate role monitoring quality and outcome of placements in the independent sector.  
In operational terms it is recommended that Community Service Business Unit will manage 
and be accountable for the completion of Baytree House change programme and all the 
associated activity. Overview and Scrutiny will set their own follow up requirements.           

 

Summary of ED Challenge/Discussion: 
 
 

Internal/External Engagement including Public, Patient and Governor Involvement: 
 
Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust directly sent the consultation documents and 
return envelopes to all family Carers who use Baytree. The consultation sought views from 
parents and carers of people with learning disabilities about future of Baytree House, its in-house 
short breaks unit in Torbay. Carers could also respond via the Trust website.  
 
During the consultation 1-2-1 meetings were available to all Carers and several public meetings 
discussed the proposals in January 2016. This included a meeting facilitated by Health Watch 
Torbay for the “Save Baytree House” campaign attended by the Trust, a meeting with the Older 
Carers group, the local Mencap Committee and the Learning Disabilities Partnership Board.        
 

Equality and Diversity Implications: 
 
This proposed service change impact upon people with learning disabilities and with their carers 
and families, the relevant impact assessments have been completed.     
 
 

PUBLIC Page 4



 

 

 
March 2016 Board report 

 
Public Consultation on the future of Baytree House short breaks unit for people with 

Learning Disabilities in Torbay 
 
 
 

1. Pre-consultation phase  
 
Introduction  
 
A decision was made at the December 2015 Board to undertake a public consultation with 

respect to the Trust’s proposal to close Baytree House, the in-house short breaks unit for 

people with Learning Disabilities in Torbay, and use alternative services in the independent 

sector.   

 

In the consultation document the Trust outlined its proposals and why there is a need to 

change the way in which short breaks (respite) are provided to people with a learning 

disability in Torbay. The consultation provided parents, carers, users of Baytree and 

stakeholders with an opportunity to formally share their or your views on the proposals. 

Throughout the Trust has wanted to make the right decisions for individuals and their carers, 

whilst also considering the tough choices that have to be made in order to ensure services 

remain fit for purpose, viable and financially sustainable for the future.  

 

Background  

 

In 2014, the local NHS published its Learning Disability Operational Commissioning 

Strategy. The document outlined how the NHS will commission and provide quality support 

to people with a learning disability and their carers in the future. The strategy set out why it is 

necessary to deliver changes in learning disability services in Torbay. The key objectives of 

the strategy were stated as follows:             

1. People with Learning Disabilities in Torbay getting to choose what they do in the day 

and evening.            

2. Everyone who wants a job getting the support they need to get a job. 

3. More people living in their own community, in their own home.  

4. Good planning and support for people with Autism. 

5. Good support for carers of people with a learning disability. 

A core principle underpinning this strategy was our commitment to personalisation and 

choice from a diverse market place. Rather than directly provide services ourselves, we will 

commission services on people’s behalf and co-ordinate the provision of information and 

support planning: Either directly or through third parties. We acknowledged the challenges of 

reduced funding and increased demand, by commissioning services that are cost effective 

and are as flexible as possible to meet people’s personal outcomes. Funding for adult social 

services has reduced year on year and further reductions have been outlined, thus this 

reality needs to be factored into our services future and financial planning.   

Page 5

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1



 
 

 
 

Other estimates indicate that the number of adults with learning disabilities in Torbay is 

increasing year on year; this is in line with national demographics. More young people with 

severe and complex disabilities survive into adulthood with a lifelong need for care and 

support. Improved healthcare means that there is a significant increase in the number of 

learning disabled people experiencing the support needs associated with old age, those 

being dementia and physical frailty. Differing estimates make needs analysis of the 

population very difficult.  However we do know is that people are living longer with complex 

health problems and profound and multiple learning disabilities. In turn we have a group of 

older carers who require support for their loved ones to remain in the family home. Younger 

people with learning disabilities have different expectations about the support they require 

than older people with learning disabilities. Thus we should differentiate between the 

limitations of the building against the delivery of a new service model which is less ‘building’ 

based and offers more choice. Children’s services and the transition support they have 

received is also moving away from the traditional model.  However the expertise of our staff 

and how they could be deployed to strengthen our services is important to emphasise in this 

respect.   

The majority of Baytree users have used the facility for many years, and it has proven to be 

a vital support for them. However, the changing demographics of learning disability mean 

that out of 450 people with LD, 39 (less than 10 per cent) of people use Baytree. While some 

people are not eligible for short breaks because they are in residential or 24 hour supported 

care; the majority of people are unable, or choose not to, go to Baytree.   

The Operational Commissioning strategy clearly explained that the NHS, in due course, 

would no longer be a direct provider of learning disability services and that we would be 

implementing a change programme in all areas of provision. Successful changes have 

already occurred in day services, with the creation of the high needs service at Hollacombe 

and the creation of supported living accommodation at the Occombe site.     

In 2015 the NHS also consulted on its policy for short breaks, which been in place since 1st 

April 2015. The policy included a new approach to providing eligible carers, with funding for 

a short break, and a commitment to ensuring there are choices for the type of break they 

have. The policy also brought the Trust’s approach to short breaks up to date in respect of 

supporting carer’s rights under the Care Act, which has been place since April 2015 to 

ensure care and support is more consistent across the country.  

Carers’ role  

The Torbay Carer Strategy (“Measure up” 15-17) recognises the huge contribution that our 

carers and young carers make to our community.  

 
The formation in October 2015 of the Integrated Care Organisation, joining Torbay’s Acute 

Hospital and its Community Health and Social Care Services to become Torbay and South 

Devon NHS Foundation Trust, demonstrates the commitment to work together for the people 

of Torbay. The local NHS and Torbay Council has a strong history of working closely for the 

benefit of Carers, with the production of a shared Carers Policy and action plan having 

shared targets about involving Carers in patient support. 

 
At this time of significant change and financial pressure across the public sector, this close 

cooperation and partnership with voluntary and third sector organisations is essential in 

Page 6



 
 

 
 

delivering the best services possible for Torbay’s Carers. ‘Measure Up’, is an inter-agency 

strategy, and is vital in ensuring that all the organisations value the vast difference that 

unpaid Carers make to our society, and to ensure that they receive support to live their lives 

to the full. 2014 saw the culmination of a number of years of increasing national awareness 

and Government priority being given to Carers, with the passing of both the Care Act and 

Children and Families Act. The Care Act repealed most of the previous legislation for Carers 

and put them on a par with the people for whom they care.  

 
Why change is needed for Baytree House  

The Baytree House short breaks service is situated in a large traditional Torbay Victorian 

Villa. The building is located in Croft Road, central Torquay. The building is owned by Torbay 

Council and leased to the NHS on a ‘peppercorn’ basis.   

Currently Baytree House has a maximum capacity of eight beds, however the average 

occupancy based on the full 14/15 financial year was approximately between three and four 

placements. The total cost of running the unit including staffing costs is £509,000 per year.   

The structure of the building means that several of the bedrooms are inaccessible for 

wheelchair users and people with significant physical disabilities. The building also has a 

number of constraints meaning it is very difficult to alter, for example ceiling tracking that 

enables the safe hoisting and movement around the premises for people with complex 

physical needs, cannot be installed in some rooms. Of the eight rooms available, two on the 

ground floor have this facility and the rooms on the first floor do not. 

There is also well evidenced change in the demographics of people with learning disabilities.  

Advances in healthcare, screening and annual health checks are helping people to live 

longer.  As a Trust it is imperative to plan services that will meet the needs of people with 

profound and multiple learning disabilities now and in the future.  In this way we aim to 

ensure that services are equipped to support the complex needs of people as well as 

buildings that can fully support people who have less mobility due to their disability or 

increasing years. 

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection report of Baytree 2013 described the 

service as follows:  

“Baytree offers a respite service for up to ten people with learning disabilities. They also offer 

emergency respite beds. The service is not able to provide nursing care, but can 

accommodate a limited number of people with more profound learning and physical 

disabilities”.  

 

The manager of Baytree House confirms that currently Baytree provides respite care to 39 

service users. The unit admits people with mild to moderate learning disabilities.  In regard to 

a snap shot of needs of those service users, from the Manager’s perspective these fall into 

the following broad headings: 9 wheel chair users; 18 mild to moderate learning disabilities; 

6 high medical needs; 3 with mobility problems and 3 with behaviours that challenge the 

service, 39 in total. The facility also has 2 equipped wet rooms, one mobile hoist and two 

fixed in rooms on the ground floor. Accessibility to the rooms on the first floor is limited for 

some service users in the groups listed above.  

Page 7



 
 

 
 

Despite the excellent skills and commitment of the staff at Baytree it will become more 

difficult to deal with mobility and frailty challenges, as the profile of service users to continue 

to move away from mild to moderate learning disabilities. 

In the last full financial year (14/15) Baytree House had an average occupancy of 3.6 

residents per week, with the majority of placements made at the weekends. This gives a 45 

per cent occupancy rate for short breaks, meaning that, per year, each bed currently costs 

approximately £125,000 to run. There has been a downward trend in use over the four years 

up to and including 14/15, with a 17 per cent reduction in bed occupancy. This information is 

based on all the weeks in 14/15 and is not a snap shot or a sample. 

Some carers have challenged the information provided by the Trust, reporting that 

sometimes Baytree is busy. However, given Short Breaks are short stays, occupancy is 

naturally variable. The spread of bed use, for example, demonstrates variable use over 

weekdays and weekends, therefore at different points in time occupancy does change and 

the Trust’s figures are thus averages.  

Occupancy  

In order to ensure we address Carers’ concerns, the occupancy figures have been revisited 

for 15/16 thus far, i.e. 37 weeks from April 2015 to early December 2015. This further 

analysis demonstrates a small increase in the occupancy to 50 per cent (based on 37 

weeks), although three less individuals have used the service compared to 14/15, i.e. some 

individuals have used more days at Baytree. Neither of these changes are material. 14/15 

occupancy was 45 per cent. 

Much debate has occurred with respect to access for planned short breaks such as holidays 

or general respite for Carers, contrasted with emergency placements where carers require a 

break at short notice for a variety of reasons. The occupancy figures come directly from 

returns made by Baytree House to the Trust finance team. By way of clarification it should be 

noted that Baytree does not have a designated emergency bed(s) and its ability to take 

emergency placements is a consequence of its occupancy level (45%-50%) However on 

some occasions Baytree has not been always able to take all emergency placements, this 

may be for variety of operational and logistical reasons. However, it should certainly be 

acknowledged that carers need a break in an emergency situation and thus capacity needs 

to be available at quick notice and, Baytree has been able to respond. Emergency beds and 

placements are very important to Carers, for example when a Carer has an illness or a 

family bereavement occurs.  

It should also be noted that one placement at Baytree in 14/15 financial year and also one in 

15/16 year have been discounted from the figures as they were not short breaks intended for 

the purpose of providing respite for those living with family carers. These two long-stay 

placements were made by the zone health and social care teams and could have been 

placed in the independent sector, if these circumstances happened again independent 

sector long stay beds would be sourced.    

Care assessments         

The assessment of needs occurs prior to accessing services at Baytree. Some carers have 

felt that low occupancy at the facility was partly due to delays in care assessments. The 

Page 8



 
 

 
 

Community Services division previously acknowledged that the Community Learning 

Disability Team (CLDT) historically had not been successful in keeping up to date with care 

assessments. Following a review in 2014, the decision was made to address this matter by 

mainstreaming Learning Disability services into the health and social care zone team and 

disbanding the CLDT. Poor performance of the CLDT included a number of elements, the 

most prominent of which were challenges in the recruitment and retention of specialist LD 

staff to run such a unit, which in turn led to unacceptable delays in assessments.  

Given the above it was agreed that a disaggregation and mainstreaming to Zone Teams was 

the only method of improving performance and integrating LD services into our mainstream 

services. This fits with the direction of travel in learning disability services since 2001 and the 

publication of “Valuing People” which was put in place to ensure that “people with learning 

disabilities are not pushed to the margins”. Since June 2015, when the disaggregation 

occurred, significant improvements in performance have been evidenced. With respect to 

comparing the position as at June 15 when the LD function was transferred to Zone teams 

and the position as at January 16. On 3rd June 2015: 71 clients with an LD category were 

waiting assessments, as at 13th January 2016 this had reduced to only 10 pending 

assessment. This demonstrates that the issue with pending assessments has now been 

addressed and they are not a material factor in the occupancy rate of Baytree.  

The combination of the factors outlined above is why the Trust believes change is necessary 

and instigated the proposal with respect to Baytree. We want local services to be the best 

they can be within the resources available.  

 

The duty to assess  

Assessments will identify a person, and their carer’s, needs and goals, then consider if any 

of those needs are eligible for support. The local authority uses a national eligibility 

framework to help them with this and determines how much money there will be to spend on 

care.  The local authority must then help a person, and their carer, to develop a support plan 

to meet those needs, using the identified personal budget. 

The local authority must ensure that the services identified in the plan meet the eligible 

needs identified in the initial assessment, and they must ensure the person is involved in the 

development of their plan. However, there is no requirement on the local authority to provide 

specific, named, services such as Baytree House. The requirement is for the local authority 

to be able to demonstrate that they are meeting the identified need for the carer to have a 

break.  

  

Pre consultation and co-design work  

Our change programme for people with learning disabilities has used a “co-design” model. 

This involved a series of meeting (five sessions in all) with parents and carers, prior to this 

formal consultation, to seek their views and help shape the proposals. Our intention was for 

the co-design approach to enable carers, parents and individuals involved to have an 

influence over the type of short break they can access in the future and enables space to 

discuss difficult change proposals in an open fashion. The carers of Baytree House clients 

were invited to these meetings, which had an average attendance of approximately 20 

Page 9



 
 

 
 

families. Additionally carers and parents of children and young people in transition were 

invited as well as wider group of interested stakeholders although only one was identified as 

attending.  

Through co-design, the Trust discussed new options for short breaks and looked at ways in 

which carers can use and combine their personal budget allowances to find better-suited 

alternatives to current provision. Throughout, the process the regular users of Baytree stated 

their objections to alternative provision to replace Baytree. This co-design activity included a 

session with five independent sector providers of bed based and alternative community 

based short breaks. The providers were able to talk about what services they could offer and 

carers were able to discuss concerns they may have had about any alternative provision. 

The Trust also shared its rationale for change and gave its commitment to support to carers 

and parents throughout the planning and transition of any change process, should the 

closure of Baytree be approved. .  

Through the work outlined above and in previous consultation work in learning disability 

services the following themes emerged from people with learning disabilities and their 

carers.   

 

 People felt that there should be more choice 

 People want to improve community participation, independence and choice 

 People and their carers said they needed help accessing those opportunities and 

using a personal budget 

 People said that building based services would still be required for people with the 

most complex needs 

 People also said that new services should be properly monitored, quality assured 

and reliable  

 People need consistent and reliable services of a suitable quality, which they felt was 

satisfactorily provided by Baytree.   

 

It’s important to acknowledge the level of genuine concern from carers (the group of 

approximately 20 who attended the co-design sessions, if Baytree House were to close. 

Many of these carers have used the building for some years and thus rely on it to enable 

them to sustain their caring role in the home environment. Secondly many of this group are 

sceptical with regard to the quality and range of independent sector alternatives, or do not 

wish to use the independent sector instead of in house provision.   

Some believed that the Trust’s proposal to close Baytree, which has been in the public arena 

since July 2015, was “pre-determined”. Throughout the co-design and at various forums 

officers of the Trust have explained that the proposals would be subject to public 

consultation and a board decision.     

The group most concerned with respect to the Trust’s proposals are older family carers who 

have relied upon Baytree for many years and have voiced the fear that this envisaged 

change could potentially trigger or bring forward their loved ones going into long term care 

given the time of life some of the Carers are at. Also that the uncertainty is stressful for them 

and their loved ones and the wider impact upon the family.  

  

Page 10



 
 

 
 

2. Trust proposals with respect to Baytree House 

 

Our approach is to create a wider breadth of sustainable services that meet people’s needs 

now and bearing in mind our duty to plan for future demographics, the Trust is proposing to 

close Baytree House. Clearly there is a tension with respect to market development and 

services to replace those offered by Baytree, as some providers are naturally waiting to 

gauge the outcome of the consultation to decide if they are to offer short break options. This 

is a significant change issue for those who have utilised Baytree for many years. The Trust 

and Commissioners are actively working with the independent sector to develop capacity 

and a handful of providers are developing new beds currently.  

The Trust proposals means that people would no longer receive short breaks at Baytree 

House. However by utilising personal budgets replacement short breaks would still be 

available by providers from the independent sector and we would work with them to make 

sure people’s needs are met.  

Independent Sector provision 

Through the co-design and consultation the availability and quality of independent sector 

provision has been the most significant issue. This is a reasonable concern given the 

unfamiliarly with this provision and that we wish to see the range of choice in the market 

broadened and increased. Some providers are venturing into the short breaks market 

(details below) and others are awaiting the outcome of the decision with respect to Baytree 

before they decide if investments in this area of the market are worthwhile.      

Support Planning role of Spot/Space 

Spot Opportunities is an independent organisation that supports people with learning 

disabilities to be an active part of their community.  Part of Spot’s role is to deliver a support 

planning service called SPACE (Support Planning Active Communities & Engagement).  

Space works with people with learning disabilities and their carers to identify a wide range of 

opportunities. This is based on people’s assessed needs. 

Within the team there is an experienced Social Worker who can complete assessments.  

The Support Planning Co-ordinator works with the social work and families to complete 

person centred support plans.  These are based on the Short Breaks Policy (2015).  SPACE 

has already supported over 20 people to move on from Hollacombe CRC choose daytime 

opportunities with a range of independent sector providers.  In addition, SPACE supports 

people to choose housing and support options within their budget. 

Key aspects of every support plan are: 

 Getting to know each individual family and their needs 
 Working in a person centred manner that puts people with learning disabilities and 

their families at the heart of decision making 
 Producing a meaningful support plan based on the choices made by carers and 

people with learning disabilities 
 On-going support to manage Direct Payments 
 Regular checking that services meet each person’s individual needs 

 

Page 11



 
 

 
 

Vital to the support planning service is listening to people and ensuring that they are able to 

choose from a range of safe, high quality services.  Similarly, by spending time with people 

and their families SPACE is able to ensure that services meet people’s individual plan.  In 

this way SPACE will work with people to try out new services and liaise with providers to 

ensure individual outcomes are achieved.   

During the consultation phase SPACE has visited 19 families, and made contact with a 

further 8 families at the time of writing.   

Provider Development 

Alongside the co-design and subsequent formal consultation processes work is being 

undertaken by TSDFT, Torbay Council and Speaking Out In Torbay (SPOT) to develop a 

range of high quality short breaks services. The key aims of this are: 

 To ensure a range of flexible short breaks accommodation that meet the individual 

needs of people with learning disabilities and their family carers (Specifically 

accommodation and support needs to include people with profound and multiple 

learning disabilities (PMLD), complex needs and autism) 

 To develop capacity in the Torbay area for short breaks 

 To promote high quality, safe and person centred services 

 To allow capacity for emergency placements 

 

At the third set of co-design meeting five providers presented to carers their vision for short 

breaks services. Since this time other providers have been working to develop new short 

breaks services. It is also anticipated that on-going market development will include 

opportunities offered by a wider range of providers. 

The providers currently working with TSDFT to develop services are: (in alphabetic order) 

 Burrow Down Support Services 

 Renaissance Care and Support (St. Johns) 

 Robert Owen Communities (ROC) 

 Shared Lives South West 

 Specialised Supported Care (SSC) 

 Summerland’s Support 

Please note that additional information is provided about Renaissance and SSC below 

because of building work being undertaken that requires further explanation. For the 

purposes of support planning all options are to be presented to carers and people with 

learning disabilities. 

Burrow Down 

Burrow Down provides supported living, residential care, short breaks and daytime 

opportunities.  The residential property is being developed to offer greater capacity for short 

breaks.  This includes high quality bathroom facilities suitable for people with mobility issues. 

     

Page 12



 
 

 
 

Renaissance 

Renaissance is a local provider with a residential home (Renaissance) and supported living 

(St. Johns). The former St. John’s Ambulance building has been partly adapted for 

supported living.  Part of the building is currently being developed to create a three bedroom 

short breaks unit (Up to 1,095 bed nights)    

The short breaks unit is designed to provide support to a range of users including people 

with profound and multiple disabilities (PMLD). This includes people with complex physical 

and medical conditions who require specialist support. 

St. John’s Short Breaks Unit will include ceiling tracking, wet rooms and enhanced facilities 

to support people with complex needs.  The unit will include a large living space and kitchen.  

In addition, the unit will have both waking night and sleep-in support required to support the 

safe care of people using the service. The building work is under way and scheduled for 

completion by the end of March 2016. 

Robert Owen Communities 

Robert Owen Communities (ROC) is a large, regional provider of supported living and 

daytime opportunities.  ROC has a one bedroom short breaks facility at Powderham 

Crescent in Newton Abbot.  

Shared Lives South West 

Shared Lives South West is a regional organisation that places people with learning 

disabilities with families.  This model of support is widely used and is based on a maximum 

of three people living in a family home.  Shared Lives South West already offers Short 

Breaks placements with families and there are a range of active placements available in 

Torbay.  People with learning disabilities can also use more than one placement to ensure 

availability. 

Specialist Supported Care (SSC) 

Specialist Supported Services (SSC) is a Devon and Torbay based organisation that 

supports a wide range of people with learning disabilities and autism.  One key area of their 

work is working with families to support people with behaviours that challenge services. The 

building will have a total of ten bedrooms and will be staffed to meet the needs of people on 

short breaks. Renovation work on Victoria House is scheduled for completion by mid-March 

2016. This will only be a suitable option for a handful of individuals with the appropriate 

personal budget.  

Summerland’s 

Summerland’s is a supported living provider that delivers individual support in a range of 

properties in Torbay. The organisation is offering non-accommodation based breaks such as 

days and evenings. In addition, Summerland’s can organise bespoke breaks such as in 

hotels or holidays. 

 

 

Page 13



 
 

 
 

Hannah’s 

Short break beds provided by Dame Hannah Rogers Trust opened in 2015. These are good 

quality facilities that have been visited by Trust officers. The location outside of Newton 

Abbot is now more accessible via the new by-pass road.       

Some family Carers are already working with Space (Support Planning) and are exploring 

future options for short breaks. Providers are continuing to develop their offers around short 

breaks.     

 

3. The public consultation   

 

Following the Trust Board decision on 2nd December 2015 the public consultation period 

commenced on 4th December and concluded on 5th February 2016. Carers had several ways 

on which to respond.  

 Complete the form within the consultation document and return in a freepost 

envelope, which was circulated to all Carers who had used Baytree and other 

stakeholders.   

 Response via the Trust website 

http://www.torbayandsouthdevon.nhs.uk/consultations 

 Telephone the Feedback and Engagement Team available for comments.  

 1-1 surgery sessions were available during the consultation; three sets of parents 

took these up on 15th December 2015. Five meetings in total occurred during the 

pre-consultation, these sessions allows the opportunity for Carers to talk to the Trust 

in a more private setting and sometimes it can be difficult or not appropriate to 

discuss issues in a larger group or public meeting.      

 Feedback from five co-design meeting included.   

 Other meetings and forums, such as a meeting chaired by Health Watch.    

 

Throughout the process and at every forum, the Trust encouraged Carers to complete the 

consultation questions document and return it to the freepost address or alternatively to 

respond via our website and the electronic form. We also stated our commitment  to a 

transparent reporting of feedback and we stated that we would use an appendix to the Board 

report to capture views in a verbatim fashion. Also that the NHS Board report would be 

subject to Torbay Council Health Scrutiny process as part of decision making (Meeting 29th 

February).    

With respect to the Consultation questions we asked carers to consider the following:  

1. Has the Trust taken all the facts into account in its proposals and if you think they are 

fair? 

2. Do you have any concerns you may have about any of the proposals outlined in this 

consultation document, and how these concerns could be reduced? 

3. What support you would like if any changes were to go ahead? 

 

We asked the following specific questions with space for sufficient narratives and comments.    

Page 14

http://www.torbayandsouthdevon.nhs.uk/consultations


 
 

 
 

 

1. Do you agree with our proposals to close Baytree House and provide alternative bed and 
community short breaks?          Yes         No    

 

2. Do you currently use Baytree House?     Yes          No    
 

3. Do you feel you have been able to help shape and influence the proposals by taking part in the 
co-design process?                 Yes          No    

 

4. What are the features of a good short break service, in your view? Please list the aspects that 
matter to you.  

 

5. Are there any unique features about the service provided at Baytree you would like other 
providers to continue? 

 

6. Are there any aspects of the service at Baytree which you think could be improved? 
 

7. If you have chosen not to use Baytree would you be able to outline the reasons?   
 

8. If have considered other providers, please give us any feedback you have on them. 
 

9. Do you think this proposal is unfair towards any group of people (with regards to their gender, 
ethnicity, age, religion, disability or sexuality)? 

 

4. Public Consultation responses Baytree  

As well as the Trust’s consultation it’s important that the Board has a full picture of views in 

the local community with respect to the proposal, even if they are not directly impacted by 

the proposal as users of the facility or have never used the facility. 

During the consultation period other face to face events have taken place with carers which 

form part of the debate. Social and traditional media activity should also be noted from this 

period, including an on line petition to retain Baytree House as part of a save Baytree 

campaign (This is referenced more fully in section 4c)   

The attached appendix includes verbatim responses and further background information with 

respect to the social media campaigns. This is a significant amount of additional material 

however we should honour carers and stakeholder’s individual feelings and voices.       

   

4a. Trust Public consultation  

On the closure of the 13 week consultation period on 5th February 2016 the Trust had 

received 26 responses to the public consultation. With respect to the “Yes/No” questions 

asked the responses were as below:  

Do you agree with our proposals to close Baytree House and provide alternative bed and 
community short breaks?          Yes         No    
 
Yes Nil, No 25, no response 1 = 26 
 

Page 15



 
 

 
 

Do you currently use Baytree House?     Yes          No    
 
Yes  21, No 4, no response 1 = 26 
 

Do you feel you have been able to help shape and influence the proposals by taking part in the co-
design process?                 Yes          No    
 
Yes 4,  No  16, no response or not a service user question 6  = 26   
 

 

* Of the total responses received (26) a total of 21 were Baytree House users and 5 were 

not. Of the 26 received, 21 came from Carers and 5 from service users, via completion of the 

easy read consultation format.     

* With respect to the established cohort of the current Baytree house Carers of 39 families, 

21 families responded. 45 families and other stakeholders were directly mailed/contacted in 

December 2015, when the consultation commenced. This included people who had not used 

Baytree since 14/15 and other stakeholders such as Mencap.    

* Responses to the consultation were an equal mixture of e-mail and paper replies.  

* No respondents supported the proposal to close Baytree House from the cohort of families 

who use Baytree.  

* Apart from four exceptions the majority of respondents did not feel they had been able to 

influence the proposals by taking part in the co-design process.  

* Three Carers took up the Trust’s offer of 1-2-1 sessions in December to talk in private and 

in detail with regard to their own positions and circumstances. Themes from these meetings 

and verbatim response from questions 4 to 9 from the consultation document are fully 

outlined in the appendix to this report.    

4b. Torbay Healthwatch and other face to face meetings  

Following on from the co-design period, during the formal consultation period the Trust 

continued to meet with carers face to face to discuss the proposal and related concerns.  

* 1-2-1’s as outlined above in December. 

* A meeting with the Older Carers Group occurred on 13th January. At that session the Trust 

encouraged carers to respond and had a wide ranging discussion covering the ground 

outline in section one of this report. This has been a regular forum with Carers since the 

Trust commenced its LD change programme two years ago.  

* At the Learning Disability Partnership Board on 20th January 2106 a further update and 

discussion occurred with respect to Baytree. The LDPB has also been briefed each quarter 

since the commencement of the LD change programme. Carer, Mr Helmore made a 

presentation at this session articulating his and others opposition to the Trust’s proposals.   

* A meeting also occurred with the Torbay Mencap committee on the evening of 21st January 

2016 covering the same territory with a repeat of the feedback outlined elsewhere in this 

Page 16



 
 

 
 

report. Regular updates have occurred with respect to Baytree and the LD change 

programme to this committee.  

All of these forums underlined the points made elsewhere in this document. Throughout the 

Trust has been keen to attend as many forums as possible to aid the conversation/debate.          

Healthwatch facilitated event with carers  

On 13th January Healthwatch Torbay facilitated and chaired an event with approximately 20 

families who use Baytree. This proved a helpful discussion to allow frank and open dialogue 

and further listening/reflection by Trust officers to hear the carers concerns and to test in 

detail the Trust’s change rationale.  

The Carer’s messages were led by Mr Helmore, who has set up a “Save Baytree” group. Mr 

Helmore is very representative of the views of those concerned with the Trust’s proposals 

and has been invited to speak at the Board. 

A number of issues were raised at this session. Matters related to the range and quality of 

independent sector providers and delays with Trust care assessments are outlined in detail 

in the previous section of this document. 

However other matters were raised and responded to. These are listed below with more 

supporting information. Healthwatch produced a helpful set of notes from the meeting, we 

have endeavoured to address all the points raised below from this feedback. Healthwatch 

will also produce a summary report of their involvement titled “Baytree House Public 

Feedback Summary”     

Carers questions from Torbay Healthwatch meeting. 

1. Feasibility of a publicly funded new build to replace Baytree: This matter was  

raised by carers: To build a replacement facility from public funds would be extremely 

challenging due to the limited public capital available now and for the foreseeable 

future. A build of such a small number of beds would not be economic to construct 

and fund, in addition a site would have to be secured, with the additional cost. In 

simple terms this option is unlikely to either be economic, or affordable, such a build 

would potentially result in higher unit costs of the facility greater than currently. A 

provisional view from the Trust estates is based on the assumption the current site 

would be returned to the council, any rebuild would thus be a brown or green field 

site that would need to be secured, or the build/beds incorporate into as yet 

unspecified health and social care development. In any event the actual build cost 

would be circa £1.5 to £2 million plus the purchase cost of any land, thus the total 

cost is likely to be in the region of £2 million.   

 
2. Scope for capital investment in Baytree to address estate issues: Carers have 

also asked about the feasibility of investing in the current estate to improve access 

and occupancy. As outlined above the Trust faces significant pressures upon its 

limited capital funds. Additionally technically making improvements in the building 

may be challenging given its structure and space, but this would be entirely 

dependent upon the specific changes envisaged following a feasibility study. For 

example upgrading the lift to the upper floor may enable that area to be utilised more 

Page 17



 
 

 
 

and also adaptations such as widening corridors for larger modern wheelchairs may 

also be helpful. This assumes funding could be identified and a scheme developed 

that would be delivered: Secondly the worst case the facility may need to close for a 

time or it’s capacity reduced, whilst the improvements were delivered on site and 

short breaks in the meantime sourced from the independent sector. However it 

should be clearly noted that the building is safe for the current cohort of users and 

occupancy. The Trust Safety Team made an assessment of the building and had no 

fundamental concerns. The lift is safe to use and in good condition. Overall the 

building met safety standards and access requirements for both the current clients 

and a building of that age. Inevitably every older building can lend itself to 

improvement and it was noted that the addition of a couple of ramps and changes to 

door management arrangements could improve user experience, these were not 

considered to be significant.  

 
 

3. Option of independent sector taking over the running of Baytree: TUPE and 

staff terms would apply in transferring the operation of Baytree to an independent or 

third sector provider. In simple terms our running fixed costs would be materially the 

same given pay is around 85 per cent of the Baytree revenue budget. In addition to 

this an independent sector provider would add profit and or corporate over heads to 

the price, so this could potentially be more expensive that the current operating 

position. For example during the brief period the NHS transferred the running of 

Occombe House residential care unit of 8 beds to an external third sector provider, 

the cost increased for the reasons outlined above. Given our terms and conditions 

and other overheads the NHS is not best value for money as a provider compared to 

the independent sector, in provider market and that same money could go further. On 

the other hand it could be argued that the independent sector could bring a more a 

more commercial approach to the unit in marketing and attracting new users from 

outside our area to arrest the decline in use. Ordinarily the independent sector would 

be less expensive aside from the TUPE fixed cost.       

 
4. Option of staff run Social Enterprise Baytree: Unlike the High Needs Day Service 

currently based at Hollacombe (which is working on a social enterprise out- sourcing 

business case for that service since 2014) previously the staff group at Baytree have 

not expressed a wish to pursue this route. Such a proposal takes some time to 

develop and takes considerable effort energy and time from the staff group. The 

Hollacombe service is probably a more economic proposition in this regard, the 

economics of a small 8 bedded unit the existing estate would be very challenging, 

plus the strategic direction of travel outlined in section one of this report.   

 

5. Financial clarification point 1: The revenue budget of Baytree of £509,000 is part of                                                

the LD Adult Social Care gross spend of £13,029,000, five per cent of learning 

disability expenditure thus relates to Baytree. 39 service users currently attend the 

facility out of total learning disability client base of 451. With respect to the status of in 

house services. Nationally local authorities (who ordinarily run LD services) have 

moved away from providing general in house services for some years, in particular 

for older people. However learning disabilities services are more specialised in 

character and thus this change away from in house service has been slower. Based 

Page 18



 
 

 
 

on information in recent statutory returns, in 13/14 indicated that two thirds of local 

authorities still provided in house services for learning disability. In 14/15 this has 

dropped to half, 50 per cent. This appears to be direction of travel, although much 

slower than for older peoples units. Devon County Council for example had gone 

through a process of disinvesting themselves of in house services for learning 

disability.       

 

6. Finance clarification 2: From the Baytree House budget community services 

division of the Trust is required to make a budget saving of £250,000 leaving 

£259,000 reinvestment monies for services in the independent sector for the 39 

users. A query was also raised at the health watch meeting with respect to unit 

costing. The carers quoted a unit cost of £1,098 per week (or £57,096 pa). This cost 

is from a few years ago (2011-12 financial year) is calculated assuming 100 % 

occupancy of the total number of beds at Baytree, this figure has not been inflated 

since 2011, whilst the budget for the unit has. This figure is only used as a basis to 

recover costs when Other Local Authorities use a bed at Baytree instead of people 

from Torbay, i.e. very occasional use by service users funded by Devon County 

Council. The unit costs referenced earlier in the report are based on actual 

occupancy of users divided by budget, which naturally creates a higher, but realistic 

use measure.  

 

7. Financial clarification 3: Whilst the reinvestment sum of £259,000 (above) could be 

used to purchased beds via a spot or block arrangements from the existing or 

developing independent sector, however it is unlikely to provide sufficient revenue 

stream to run an in house service at the current scale with respect to pay and 

property costs. 

 

8. Financial clarification 4: With respect to the monies allocated to commission 

replacement services in the independent sector for the 39 current users of Baytree. 

The question has been raised if this sufficient monies to fund these requirements. 

The Trust has made calculations based on the current costs of care packages for 

these cases, including a monetary representation of the cost of bed nights at Baytree. 

This forms the total personal budget for each individual. Personal budget allocations 

can of course change via annual reviews, but we judge that the total bed nights used 

at Baytree for short breaks could be purchased in the independent sector within the 

financial envelope available. Naturally individual variations occur with respect to need 

and cost to be met the differing requirements of 39 people. Thus the financial 

allocation will differ between individual service users and averages may only paint 

part of the picture. However by way of broad illustration, for 14/15 financial year the 

Trust had a gross spend of £139,000 in the independent sector with respect to short 

breaks covering 432 bed nights at £171 per night average (or £1,196 per week). On 

that basis the total of 1,323 (14/15) bed nights for short breaks at Baytree would cost 

in the independent sector approximately £226,000 pa to re-provide. 1,475 (15/16 

estimate) would cost £252,000 pa. As acknowledged these are averages but in 

overall terms the monies available should be broadly sufficient. The total of £259,000 

allocated across 39 users would average at £6,641 per annum for client for short 

breaks. Some service users may require less budget than this average and some 

more.                   

Page 19



 
 

 
 

 

4c. Media and social media    

Social media 

An online petition was set up in December following the launch of the public consultation. 

The petition gained 1032 signatures. It aimed to receive 1000 when it was launched, which 

was later increased to a target of 2000. Some Baytree House users and carers have 

responded in addition to a small number of staff at the facility. It is difficult to quantify all of 

the responses and where they have originated as most of the responses have been signed 

anonymously, however it is clear from reviewing the petition that a proportion of the 

signatures came from abroad or outside the area. Please see the breakdown in the table 

below. The petition was also shared via Spotted Torquay on Facebook and gained a number 

of responses after being shared on social media following the meeting with Healthwatch. 

The themes in the petition echoed those in the formal consultation feedback.  It should also 

be noted that the petition was not set up by a Baytree user and family.  

Type of respondent Responses 

Identifiable carers, clients, services users and relative 

responses 

12 

Known members of staff 

 

3 

Users outside of the UK 

 

24 

Inside the UK (this figure potentially may include other Baytree 

families or staff members) 

993 

Total 1032  

 

Common themes in those that have left a comment on the petition included:  

 Concerns of where people will go  

 Respite is a much needed service  

 Losing what Baytree House has to offer- secure, friendly setting  

 Service users can make friends  

 Strain on carers if service isn’t available    

 The petition can be found on line, at  http://www.thepetitionsite.com/en-

gb/115/165/152/stop-the-closure-of-bay-tree-house/    

 

 

Page 20

http://www.thepetitionsite.com/en-gb/115/165/152/stop-the-closure-of-bay-tree-house/
http://www.thepetitionsite.com/en-gb/115/165/152/stop-the-closure-of-bay-tree-house/


 
 

 
 

Traditional print 

The Trust has issued three press releases on the co-design and the launch of the 

consultation on the proposals around Baytree House and provided a proactive response to 

the media on the outcome of the Board meeting. It has also given an interview with Radio 

Devon about the co-design process and in response to a carers concern over the closure.  

Coverage has mainly been in the local newspaper the Herald Express, with a total of four 

articles since July and one radio segment on Radio Devon; however it is likely that the 

meetings and consultation have been covered off in other media outlets, as this is difficult to 

monitor coverage. The Herald Express has a wide readership in South Devon and thus the 

coverage would have reached many people.     

The Trust has also used social media, Facebook and Twitter to communicate about the co-

design and consultation process and has kept the website up to date with the latest 

information so people are well informed on the process.  

All press releases have also been shared via the carers email distribution list so that wider 

carers are aware of the process.   

4d. Torbay Council 

Torbay Council approved the Trust consultation document in late November 2015 supporting 

the principle to consult and return to the Council Scrutiny committee at the end of the 

process. Cllr Parrot the lead for Health and Adult Social Care has played active role in 

process.  

Members have received some correspondence from carers expressing concern with regard 

to the Trust proposals so naturally Scrutiny has a stake in the outcome of the process. This 

report will be presented to the Council Overview and Scrutiny Board on 29th February 2016.      

The Local Authority operates in an extremely challenging financial climate, including year on 

year budgets reductions in adult social care. Thus the imperative to deliver £250,000 CIP 

saving/budget reduction in 16/17 earmarked against Baytree is important in this financial 

context and that of the new risk share arrangements entered into by the local public sector 

partners in our area, who are working together to produce as sustainable health and social 

care system.   

 

5. Conclusions and recommendations  

Conclusions and findings  

5a. The consensus from those who participated in the consultation and who use Baytree 

was that they did not support the Trust proposal to close the unit and source replacement 

short break capacity from Independent sector. 26 responses were received to the 

consultation (from 39 current users of Baytree and 45 families directly written to).Of the 26 

responses, 4 were services users and 4 out of the 26 had not used Baytree before. How 

those families feel with regard to the proposal to close Baytree is covered verbatim in 

Appendix A below.        

Page 21



 
 

 
 

5b. The Trust does not have a legal duty provide in house facilities, but it does has a duty 

assess a person, and their carer’s, needs and goals, then consider if any of those needs are 

eligible for support. The local authority (the Trust as its delegate) uses a national eligibility 

framework to help them with this and determines how much money there will be to spend on 

care. The local authority must then help a person, and their carer, to develop a support plan 

to meet those needs, using the identified personal budget. There no requirement on the local 

authority to provide specific, named, services such as Baytree House. The requirement is for 

the local authority to be able to demonstrate that they are meeting the identified need for the 

carer to have a break.  

5c. By way of recap: The Trust case is that an occupancy rate of 45%-50% is not good value 

financially. An estate that does not fully meet current and future needs of the LD wider cohort 

is not sustainable. Also the revenue cost of running the facility in the current and future 

challenging financial climate to reduce costs and deliver savings, is worthy of review. These 

are all factors that the Board should consider as part of its deliberations.   

5d. Independent sector alternatives: This is acknowledged as the key issue by all involved in 

this process.  

Whilst two providers are developing additional beds in the independent sector at the time of 

writing it’s quite possible that other providers are awaiting the outcome of the consultation 

and the board decision before entering the Short Breaks market and planning investments in 

their facilities.  If a decision were to be made to close Baytree at some point, those 

interested providers could potentially move forward with the knowledge that they could 

attract clientele from the cohort of carers previously using Baytree.  

For many years Baytree has had a lead position in the learning disability short breaks market 

in Torbay (beds nights 14/15 at Baytree of 1,323 vs. 811 bed nights in the independent 

sector during the same time frame) Thus encouragement to stimulate independent sector 

investment in this area has arguably not been present. This could change and provide 

incentives for providers to step in if the decision was made to close Baytree in due course.            

5e. Extension of closure date 

We have listened carefully to the review of carers, in particular the discussion in the meeting 

with Healthwatch. We are thus recommending to the Board that if the decision to close 

Baytree is made, that the implementation of this decision is delayed (This text is entirely 

provisional and will be subject to an Executive decision) until 30th June 2016. This will allow 

a further four months for providers to develop further capacity as outlined, for support 

planning options in the market to be further explored and for an orderly closure of the facility. 

The Trust’s original target date to close 1st April 2016 is no longer sensible or deliverable and 

does not allow sufficient time to manage change for Carers, Service Users and the Trust.      

5f. Carer assessments  

As outlined in section one of this report the Trust has significantly reduced it backlog of 

pending care assessments and believes outstanding assessments is not a reason for the 

level of occupancy at Baytree and that the level of usage does reflect demand. The Trust will   

make available dedicated staffing resources and identify an individual to urgently carry out 

these assessments if the decision to close Baytree was made.   

Page 22



 
 

 
 

5g. Supporting Planning summary  

For all those using Baytree House as a short breaks option, the Trust has given its 

commitment to ensure improved support and planning for people, to help them use personal 

budget’s to meet their outcomes and manage their money to support a new short break of 

their choice. The Supporting Planning service in the voluntary sector SPACE, are available 

in this respect. Individual service users support plans combining the needs of the carer and 

the cared for will be produced. 

In the early part of the consultation carers were reticent about working with the support 

planning team as they believed this implied that on some level they supported the Trusts 

proposals. At the meeting with Healthwatch on 13th January this impasse was expedited by 

the agreement that all support plans would be under taken “without prejudice” in terms of the 

board decision. This is helpful as without working with the support planning service the need 

cannot be comprehensively gauged and then matched, if appropriate, with a provider in the 

independent sector that can meet that requirement. Secondly through this process Carers 

will receive information and up to date knowledge about the reality and suitability of solutions 

available, other than Baytree. 

Since mid-January the support planning service has made a number of initial visits to carers. 
As at 9th February SPACE have visited 19 families during the consultation phase and made 
contact with a further 8 families recently. These have proven very helpful in initially setting 
the scene and beginning to look at alternatives, if Baytree were to close. We have listened to 
the individual families as a fundamental foundation of delivering a person centred approach.  
 
From March our plan is to take this work forward via assessments and shaping tangible 
solutions and with a consensus about the outcome for the carer and cared for. If the Board 
made the decision to close Baytree we would complete this work before Baytree House 
closed so that no one will be left without a service.   
  

5h Advocacy    

The Trust recognises that the implementation of its Learning Disability Provider 

Commissioning Strategy and the associated change programme has been a challenging 

period for some carers as we have delivered a series of changes to our in house services 

and the approaches stated in the strategy. Throughout we have done our best to engage 

and co-design with carers in a transparent fashion and we have also been honest and direct 

with regard to issues such financial pressures and the suitability and sustainability of our in 

house estate.  

Although our Support Planning services is independent and contracted from the voluntary 

sector we believe a further mechanism of checks and balances is required, so that service 

users and carers can access an advocate with respect of support plans, concerns with the 

Trust processes, and with respect to other parts of the change programme.  

With this in mind “Vocal Advocacy” has been commissioned to work with users and carers if 

required. This small contract will be specific to changes in Torbay Learning Disabilities. 

Vocal have a track record of providing an excellent and professional service for the 

vulnerable people of South and West Devon and of Torbay. Vocal has previously been 

Page 23



 
 

 
 

commissioned by the Trust and Devon Advocacy Consortium to provide issue based 

advocacy for people with Learning Disability and communication difficulty. 

5i Carers Assessment under the Care Act 

The Trust is very mindful of the Carers entitlement to a Carers assessment under legislation. 

However at the same time we have not wished to prejudice the Board Decision with regard 

to Baytree by under-taking work in advance of the decision. If the Board does make a 

decision to Close Baytree these assessments will be prioritised by the Zone Teams so that 

any carers who do not have an up to date assessment will do so before Baytree closes, if 

indeed that occurred.  

5j Recommendations  

a. That Baytree House should in due course close and the short break beds nights 

should alternatively be sourced in the independent sector.  

b. That a transitional period to 30/6/16 occurs before the decision to close is 

implemented.  

c. That Adult Social Care Commissioners in partnership with the Support Planning 

Services are tasked urgently over the next four months to work closely with provider 

to develop and secure satisfactory provision.  

d. That the Board consider their monitoring requirements. It is recommended the Board 

in due course receive a written update with respect to progress if the decision is 

made to close the unit and secondly that the Learning Disability Partnership Board 

also take an appropriate role monitoring quality and outcome of placements in the 

independent sector.  In operational terms it is recommended that Community Service 

Business Unit will manage and be accountable for the completion of Baytree House 

change programme and all the associated activity. Overview and Scrutiny will set 

their own follow up requirements.       

 

 

 

 

Steve Honeywill, 

Head of Operational Change, 

February 2016  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



 
 

 
 

 

Appendix A  

Public Consultation Feedback  

Questions 

1. Do you agree with our proposals to close Baytree House and provide alternative bed 

and community short breaks?          Yes         No    

2 Do you currently use Baytree House?     Yes          No    

3 Do you feel you have been able to help shape and influence the proposals by taking 

part in the co-design process?                 Yes          No    

4 What are the features of a good short break service, in your view? Please list the 

aspects that matter to you. 

5 Are there any unique features about the service provided at Baytree you would like 

other providers to continue? 

6 Are there any aspects of the service at Baytree which you think could be improved? 

7 If you have chosen not to use Baytree would you be able to outline the reasons?  

8 If have considered other providers, please give us any feedback you have on them 

9 Do you think this proposal is unfair towards any group of people (with regards to their 

gender, ethnicity, age, religion, disability or sexuality)? 

Carer response 1 

Q1: No 
 
Q2: No 
 
Q3: I have put no to number one because on the three occasions where it was needed to 
emergency/respite the on suite was not available; this answers no two as well. 
I have not been part of the co-design process was not invited. 
 
Q4: Familiar surroundings/consistency of care and carers to the service users. Most learning 
dis/disabled need these aspects of a service for their health and wellbeing. 
 
Q5: can’t comment as we haven’t been able to use baytree 
 
Q6: Can’t comment as above 
 
Q7: As above not available 
 
Q8: As yet not used any providers in the bay 
 
Q9: As I have said individual need and being able to give consistency and reliability of care 

specially for complex service users 
 
Response 2 

Q1: No 
 
Q2: Yes 
 

Page 25



 
 

 
 

Q3: not really as I have not been able to get to any of the consultation meetings so far and I 
do not know if what I have said on the phone or sent in as a letter have been taken note of 
as I have had no response back 
 
Q4: there are many, but the most important to us as a family are:- 
 
Our daughter is happy and cared for safely. It took the staff a while to get to know who she 
gets on with in the way of other clients and staff and always strive to get the right mix in 
together for her 
 
It is the only time that me and my husband can even attempt to fully relax or catch up on 
things we normally can't do. Also make appointments and not worry about if they are not 
going to overrun  
 
Even though our daughter is not autistic, she can have autistic type melt downs which can 
go from as little as 30 mines up to 36 hours, (rarely) WE can cope with anything up to 2 
hours as then she is constantly screaming, if we never had a break or knew a break was 
coming up I do not know what we would do other than sedating her 
 
On the very rare occasion me and my husband can get away for a short break of our own we 
can ask Baytree House to book our daughter in for a slightly longer stay so we can get away, 
which we wouldn't be able to otherwise. 
 
We have been allocated 48 days a year, this is far less than anyone working gets from their 
place of work, which is 5.5 weeks (of their working week) We regularly use 36 leaving the 
other 12 days for emergencies 
 
We are in our late 50s and early 60s so this short break at Baytree House is getting more 
and more important to us because of our ages and we may even need to increase our 
daughter's stay at Baytree as we get older and our physical abilities wane 
 
Q5: Others can't provide the same as Baytree unless all the staff are uprooted and sent to 
work together in a new place but that would defeat the object unless structurally Baytree 
House is getting expensive to maintain, then the new building would need the same "home 
from home" set up which other residential homes do not have as they are all 
"institutionalised" in appearance and atmosphere 
 
The staff know the clients and their needs, quirks and foibles extremely well, which staff and 
other clients work and stay together well with others and those who clash for one reason or 
another 
 
Q6: If they had access to a WAV type mini bus, even if only once a month during the 
summer months so that clients could be taken on trips and to ask for contribution of at least 
70% of the cost from the clients to cover the costs. Clients often have discount cards or they 
can take letters of diagnosis to get entry discounts to a lot of places, as well as places like 
zoos and theme parks allowing carers to go in free of charge  
 
Some clients and their parents can afford to pay a bit more towards the cost of short breaks. 
I would be happy to do so 
 
Q7: we have always used Baytree House 
 
Q8: When we moved here in 2003 we spent a lot of time looking round at other providers in 
and around Torbay. We wanted a place close enough so if needed we could get there 
quickly but not too close that we felt guilty she was in the same town. 

Page 26



 
 

 
 

We also looked for activities on offer, staff as well as other things. Baytree was the only 
place to offer everything we wanted and had the potential to look after our daughter the way 
we wanted, and make our her happy, which they do 
 
The only way I and others like our family would be happy with Baytree House closing would 
be if it showed the maintenance of the building was uneconomical and a newer more 
efficient building was to be used with the same staff running and working there within Torbay 
 
Q9: Yes, the closure of Baytree House would be very unfair to the disabled adult clients 
themselves as some of them it is their only social activity out of the family home, their full 
time carers/parents and their families, who they themselves are all getting older so less able 
to look after their children full time at home so this in fact would cost more as the Baytree 
House clients would end up having to live full time in a residential home. 
 
Response 3  

Q1: No 
 
Q2: Yes 
 
Q3: Torbay Council are not listening. We want Baytree to stay open. The building is suitable 
for all disabled needs. It IS suitable for wheel chair users as there is a lift. For those disable 
users that need a hoist there are portable models that are fit for purpose. There is no need 
for tracking for hoist to hang from the ceilings. Do carers in their own homes have tracking 
hoist......no. Carers in Torbay are NOT having their needs assessed let alone having 
adaptation to their homes. TORBAY council are trying to save money by closing Baytree by 
giving the impression that it’s not fit for purpose and trying to say that the occupancy levels 
are down. The reason and only reason the occupancy levels are down is that carer’s 
assessments are not being done and carers are NOT being offered respite. The information 
that I have given is based on information I have been told by other carers and my own 
experience as a carer living in Torbay. If Baytree is not suitable for disabled people with very 
complex needs then find a place for them that does but do not close a perfectly good 
building that is totally suitable for the majority of users. 
 
Q4: Baytree is perfect. It not only offers respite on a regular basis it is the ONLY place that 
offers emergency respite for carers. 
 
Q 5 to 7 blank.  
 
Q8: We have considered all options in the bay and non- offer what Batters offers. 
 
Q9: It’s totally unfair to carers if they lose respite. There are many carers in Torbay that need 
respite and you as a provider are failing to address these issues. Assess all carer’s needs 
first and then and only then make a decision to close any support that carers vitally need. 
What you have done is put huge pressure on carers when in fact the opposite is what should 
be happening. Carers do what they do because they want to.....not because they have to. 
So I suggest you support the most cost effective way forward....THE CARER. 
 

Response 4   

Q1: No  

Q2: No 

Page 27



 
 

 
 

Q3: to Q9 no response 

Response 5  

Q1: No 

Q2: Yes 

Q3:  No 

Q4: to not only give the disabled person a different and more independent outlook on life 
apart from family and regular carers but also give family and regular carers a much needed 
break 
 
Q5: other providers do not and could not offer same or equal services. We have looked 
around for the last few years since the closure of Baytree was first threatened 
 
Q6: there could be more trips on offer which would mean the use of a minibus form time to 
time, and the cost could be met by families who wanted their "children2 to go the trips, either 
by a minimum or full contribution, whatever could be afforded (say if the trip were to cost £10 
per person, then ask for £10 or a minimum of £5) and in most places carers get free access 
or even a trip out to somewhere like Dartmoor which apart from the cost of fuel would be 
free, a different scene 
 
another accessible room for wheelchair users, not for the sole use of a wheelchair user but 
there have been times in an emergency we have wanted the use of a room but the 2 have 
been in use so we were left to struggle and if there had been another w/c accessible room 
there would have been a better chance of getting our daughter in 
 
Q7: No response 
 
Q8: We have looked many times but no other provider is up to the same standard as 
Baytree 
 
Q9: Yes to the disabilities and their carers/families. This makes things harder 
 
Response 6   
 
Q1:  No 
 
Q2: No 
 
Q3: The decision was made to close Baytree House prior to consultation. That is not 
Consultation. The whole situation could have been more productive if viable alternatives had 
been available before the closure was announced. No thought at all was given to the 
feelings of the Carers concerned. No consideration of the staff members leaving before 
Baytree was closed. No creative thinking was discussed with the valued staff members, 
regarding the possibility of themselves with the Councils help, offering a 24/7 365 day 
service in a private sector respite unit. 
 
Q4: Reliability, 24/7 365 days per year. 
Safety and continuity of staff and clients. 
 
Q5: Quality of the staff. Relationship between staff, carers, clients and their peers. 

Page 28



 
 

 
 

Baytree offers in-depth assessments alongside respite, which means that their carers are 
confident that in the event of an emergency, their loved ones will be well cared for. 
 
Q6: More Wheelchair access.Professional need to refer people to Baytree House, This 
doesn't happen, resulting in bed numbers going down. 
 
Q7: Not relevant 
 
Q8: The alternatives as yet are not suitable. 
 
Q9: It is unfair for older carers and clients who should not have this worry put upon them, 
particularly as no viable alternatives have as yet been offered 
 
 
Response 7  
 
Q1: No 
 
Q2: Yes 
 
Q3: No, I want Bay Tree to stay open, don't want to go to Shared Lives 
 
Q4: Excellent trained staff, welcoming, nice food 
 
Q5: I don't want to lose my service 
 
Q6: No 
 
Q7 n/a 
 
Q8: Shared Lives isn't suitable for me, 
 
Q9: Unfair to the disabled, losing our respite and day services is shocking 
 
Response 8 

Q1: No 
 
Q2: Yes 
 
Q3: No, we have only been offered XXXXXXX and it's not appropriate for my son. He loves 
going to his "hotel" 
 
Q4: Fun and happy staff, trained staff, outings, correct equipment 
 
Q5: I don't want to lose our service, my son has been very upset since we told him about 
Bay Tree closing 
 
Q6: Needs decorating 
 
 
Q8: My son does not want to go to XXXXXXX lives and having staff come into our home 
would not give us a proper break 
 
Q9: The government are targeting the vulnerable all over the country. 

Page 29



 
 

 
 

Response 9 

Q1: No 
 
Q2: No 
 
Q3 to Q9 not answered. 
 
Response 10 

Q1 No 

Q2 Yes 

Q3 Yes 

Q4 “My Daughter is safe and happy” 

Q5 “Staff are friendly, easy for wheelchair, just like home” 

Q6   No, Q7 blank.  

Q8 “Only other option is XXXXXX which my daughter hated and the care was poor” 

Q9 Yes  

Response 11  

Q1 No 

Q2 Yes 

Q3 No 

Q4 “Needed” 

Q5 “all” 

Q6 to 9 blank 

Response 12 

This carer made a range of comments across the consultation paper upon various pages; 

these have thus been grouped together in themes for clarity.  

Q1 No “no suitable other accommodation, no partnership by our social worker” “Social 

Workers do not assess our needs. Five Respite Care providers at meeting (Co-design) not 

suitable” “It beggars belief that Torbay Council should know carers needs are, they don’t 

because social service are not fit for purpose in assessing our needs, it’s law”     

Q2 Yes 

Q3 No, “You decided to close Baytree; Social Services are not fit for purpose”  

Page 30



 
 

 
 

Q4 “Somewhere safe for them to go if and when ill, a place for regular respite so we as 

carers can stay sane, have a life”      

Q5 “There are no other providers. We have asked” 

Q6 “Baytree is fit for purpose and designed to accommodate disabled people when carers 

are ill. Take Baytree away and I believe you will be in breach of the law” 

Q7 “ Social Services, are not assessing need and in some cases, even refusing. Torbay SS 

not fit for purpose.  

Q8 “Provider X is damp and musky and nowhere for Carers to sleep, Provider Y doesn’t 

have enough beds and want more money, my boys don’t like it”  

Q9 “ My wife and I do 550 Hrs. a month as carers and have done for 29 years, we have to 

fight to be heard, how here this- We have decided due to the closure of Baytree to place our 

boys into care for two weeks of every month, if that not achievable into care full-time.  

Other comments in this response elsewhere on the consultation form 

* “Suggestion, support the carer as they are the most cost effective way forward” 

* “I know for a fact that Torbay Council are one of the worst, if not the worst in the country 

when it comes to supporting the vulnerable. FACT”  

* Social Services are a joke, all the good ones leave. FACT”   

* “This family is sick to death of having to prove our worth. We have decided we need a life 

and with the support of our doctor we are going to provide care for our sons for 2 weeks 

every month as we as parents have no legal responsibility what so ever, you do!”  

* “Support the carer it’s the cheapest way” 

Response 13 

Q1 Not ticked, “We understand the reasoning as to why to close Baytree, but for the future of 

specialist care it would be nice to have purpose built facility”  

Q2 Yes 

Q3 No 

Q4 “Good care, caring staff, users happy, able to use at short notice” 

Q5 “Care especially for specialist nursing needs”  

Q6 “We found the service adequate for our daughter needs” 

Q7 Not applicable 

Q8 Not visited any yet 

Q9 No 

Page 31



 
 

 
 

Response 14 

Q1 No “Baytree is a much needed centre. Set up in such a way the clients are safe, cared 

for and happy. The parents are happy and confident with the staff and set up. Rarely used to 

full-potential. An essential short break or emergency stay so parent and carers can have a 

few nights off which will not be achieved any other way. 

Q2 Yes “36 nights per year/3 nights per month and can call on another 2 annually if needed” 

Q3 No 

Q4 “Confidence is care, a few days rest per month, slightly longer break if needed. Both in 

our late 50’s early 60’s, physically and mentally this is needed”  

Q5 “The staff at Baytree know the clients and how to care for them and cater to their needs. 

The staff are personal to the client with the clients happy in their surroundings unlike large 

residential homes. Feels like a home from home. 

Q6 “The occasional use of a mini bus so clients could be taken on trips. If parents and carers 

are able to contribute, at least 70% of the cost, more if able” 

Q7 “Have used Baytree since 2003, chosen as it offers the best facilities in Torbay and 

surrounding area and close to get to”  

Q8 “Other provides we looked at did not offer the same facilities and care” 

Q9 Yes 

Response 15 

Q1 No “You are not providing alternatives. You are offering services that do not exist. You 

are being unrealistic with the proposed closure date. April 2017 would be more appropriate.  

Q2 Yes 

Q3 No 

Q4 “Well paid and valued staff who remain in their posts because of job satisfaction. Up to 

date training. Safe and secure environment. Opportunities for outings and entertainment. 

Ability to discuss problems and concerns” 

Q5 “Well trained staff infrequent turnover so staff know the service users well and via versa. 

Happy community of friends and feeling of family. Safe in the knowledge emergency beds 

available” 

Q6 “If referrals had been made an people offered more respite we would not be in this 

situation” 

Q7 “Those unable to access Baytree could be accommodated at St Johns (When 

completed) leaving Baytree still available to those who can and choose it” 

Page 32



 
 

 
 

Q8 “Provider A still building until the end of March and not guaranteed to be respite Provider 

B decided not to offer respite. Provider C awaiting on response from completed paper work. 

Provider D yet to visit but concern re occupancy at 75% to 100%” 

Q9 “Rushing this through with no viable alternatives is unfair regardless of gender etc”  

Response 16 (service user)  

Q1 No 

Q2 Yes 

Q3 “It’s a great place to stay because it’s close to Torquay centre and staff are very friendly”     

Q4 “Should have a stair lift, wheelchair could be in dining room  

Q5 “Parents break and I get along with different service users 

Q6 Art and crafts, shopping and trips out, TV, swimming, different places.  

Q7 to Q9 no response 

Response 17 

Q1 No 

Q2 Yes 

Q3 No  

Q4 to Q9 –This carers submitted a detailed letter copied in full, please see below 

Page 33



 
 

 
 

:  

 

          

               Response 18  

Q1 No 

Q2 Yes 

Q3 Yes,  Q1 to Q9 narrative please see below.  

Page 34



 
 

 
 

 

Response 19 (Service user)  

Q1 No 

Q2 Yes 

Q3 “Staff are nice friendly and kind, Like the people that go to Baytree & games room and 

themed”  

Q4 “Wi fi” 

Q5 “Having time there and doing things”   

Q6 “Going for coffee, cinema, chatting with staff”   

 

Page 35



 
 

 
 

Response 20 (service user)  

Q1 No  

Q2 Yes 

Q3 “Like my home” 

Q4 “Nothing can be better about Baytree” 

Q5 “It is important for me to have a holiday and mum and dad a break”   

Q6 “Staying with friends”  

Response 21 

Q1 No 

Q2 Yes 

Q3 Yes 

Q4 “Having a break from caring for 40 years plus, without respite we would not be able to 

cope. We would have to pass caring onto the Trust which would cost thousands as we are 

unpaid”  

Q5 “Baytree is friendly, four star accommodation food and staff, my son treats his stay as a 

holiday and is taken out on activities which he would not get in a care home due to staff 

shortages”  

Q6”Baytree cannot be faulted”  

Q7” My son is worried about the closure all the time and does not want change” 

Q8 “Having visited X and bedrooms are stark, no alarms by bed, how can a resident call the 

staff at night? Other areas ok but, not many vacancies in 2016. X is like a builders tip 

currently. X not suitable wants to be with peers”     

Q9 “Proposal has not been given any thought by the Trust as there is no suitable 

alternatives as with Hollacombe closure”   

Response 22 

Q1 No;  ”In our experience the alternative providers can’t compare to the excellence  of 

Baytree” 

Q2 Yes 

Q3 No 

Q4 “There must be a service to access in an emergency, which in my daughters case can be 

often” 

Page 36



 
 

 
 

Q5 “Baytree is surrounded by local amenities, provides good nutritious food and has well 

trained caring staff”  

Q6 “All improvements can be made. Daughter looks forward to each visit. More people 

should be told of it” 

Q7 Not applicable  

Q8 “ Other providers cannot deliver emergency care. Staff know how to calm down and 

reassure very anxious unwell people” 

Q9 “Closure would be unfair to the autistic who need familiar routine with people they know 

and trust”      

Response 23 (service user) 

Q1 No 

Q2 Yes 

Q3 “I got out some evenings and have a nice roast dinner”  

Q4 No response 

Q5 “Give my mum and dad break from me”  

Q6 As Q3.    

Response 24 (service user)  

Q1 No 

Q2 Yes 

Q3 The staff 

Q4 I like Baytree as it is 

Q5 It’s like a holiday 

Q6 Going out, and doing things. 

Response 25    

Q1 No “It took a long time to get my daughter to go to respite and settle. A change would not 

be good”.  

Q2 Yes 

Q3 Yes 

Q4 “It is safe, care is good & use in an emergency”    

Q5 : No response 

Page 37



 
 

 
 

Q6 “Happy as it is”  

Q7 and Q 8: No response    

Q9 Yes 

Response 26 

Q1: No 
 
Q2: Yes 
 
Q3: No : As I don’t agree with the closure of Baytree 
 
Q4: as I have said I don’t agree with the closure of Baytree I think it’s the wrong thing to do 
for the community the public don’t agree and they see it as a vital service the people making 
these decisions don’t seem to be been listened to 
 
Q5: no as I don’t agree with the closure 
 
Q6: no it’s providing an outstanding service which the government don’t seem to be 
recognizing 
 
Q7: I have chosen to use Baytree 
 
Q8: no I haven’t 
 
Q9: I think disabled people I paying for the unfair cuts and closures that are going on 
cutbacks are not their fault they didn’t ask for the cuts and the closure you need to listen and 
reconsider the proposals now and stop saying Baytree is underused when the community 
are telling you this is not the case staff do an outstanding job for all who use it  the question 
asks is it unfair I would argue yes it is on all levels people deserve this service Baytree not 
any other service that the public know are going meet these needs of the loved ones needs 
and that’s the unfair point the fact that the NHS should not be cut in any departments this is 
an important service please please don’t close it thank you. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

Page 38



 
 

 
 

 

 

Page 39



The Trust wants to close Baytree House in 2016.  

People using Baytree will have a choice of new 

places to go for Short Breaks.

What the Trust says: What carers and people using Baytree say:

Baytree is less than half full All of the carers and people using Baytree

want to keep it open

It costs £509,000 to run Baytree a year.  

The Trust wants to save £250,000.

People think the decision is being made 

too quickly

People using wheelchairs can’t use most of 

the bedrooms

People want more time to think about and 

try new services if Baytree has to close

It is very difficult to put in hoists ceiling 

tracking to help people safely move around 

Baytree

Carers feel that Baytree has not been 

promoted when people have their 

assessments

Younger people who will need a short Lots of carers are not happy with the Younger people who will need a short 

break have higher needs

Lots of carers are not happy with the 

choices of new services

The Trust needs to plan for the future Carers feel that Baytree is a quality service 

and they trust the staff

Short Breaks can be provided in different 

places

Baytree is reliable and helps if they need 

help in an emergency

The Trust is working to find new places for 

people to go instead of Baytree

People enjoy going to Baytree House

Everyone will have an assessment and a 

support plan to help them choose new 

services

Lots of carers want the Trust to spend 

money on Baytree House to make it more 

accessible for people with complex needs

Carers are really worried about losing their 

Short Breaks as it would be difficult to do 

their important caring role

Carers want to feel supported and valued

by the Trust

Some carers are not confident that other 

providers will do a good job

Carers often feel that the decision to close 

Baytree was made before the consultation

Page 40

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 2



What the Trust says: What carers and people using Baytree say:

Carers say the staff at Baytree do a great 

job and are well trained

Carers say that the closure of Baytree is 

causing them stress and this is effecting 

their sons and daughters

Baytree is fit for purpose

Some people have suggested a new 

purpose built facility run by Baytree staff

Baytree feels like home

Some of the new services are not ready yet

Some carers say that other service will cost 

more money

Worry that new services may not be there 

long term

Baytree staff don’t keep changing jobs so

people know their staff really wellpeople know their staff really well

Being able to book Baytree at short notice

It take a long time for people to settle in a 

new service

People with autism find change really 

difficult

Carers and people using Baytree will suffer 

because of cuts

Page 41



Our daughter is happy 

and cared for safely.  

It is the only time that me and my husband can 

even attempt to fully relax or catch up on things 

we normally can’t do.

Home from home
Baytree was the only place 

to offer everything we 

wanted and had the 

potential to look after our 

We want Baytree to 

stay open

Staff are nice 

friendly and 
potential to look after our 

daughter the way we 

wanted, and make her 

happy, which they do

Baytree is perfect.  It not only offers respite on a 

regular basis it is the ONLY place that offers 

emergency respite for carers

friendly and 

kind. 

Like my home

Nothing can be better about Baytree.  It is 

important for me to have a holiday and mum and 

dad a break

Page 42



It’s totally unfair to carers if they lose respite.  There are many 

carers in Torbay that need respite and you as a provider are 

failing to address these issues.  Assess all carer’s needs first and 

then and only then make a decision to close any support that 

carers vitally need.  What you have done is put huge pressure 

on carers when in fact the opposite is what should be 

happening.  Carers do what they do because they want to….not 

because they have to.  So I suggest you support the most cost 

effective way forward…THE CARER. 

I don’t want to 

lose my serviceUnfair to the disabled, losing 

our respite and day services 

is shocking

I don’t want to lose our service, my son has been 

very upset since we told him about Baytree

closing

We understand the reasoning 

as why to close Baytree, but for 

the future of specialist care it 

would be nice to have a 

purpose built facility

Other 

providers 

we looked at 

did not offer 

the same 

facilities and 

care
Page 43



Having a break from caring for 40 years plus, 

without respite we would not be able to cope.  

We would have to pass caring onto the Trust 

which would cost thousands as we are unpaid

My son is worried about 

the closure all the time 

and does not want change

In our experience the alternative providers can’t 

compare to the excellence of Baytree

Give my mum 

and dad break 

from me

Closure would be unfair 

to the autistic who need 

familiar routine with 

people they know and 

trust

It’s like a holiday

It took a long time to get my daughter to go to 

respite and settle.  A change would not be good

Page 44



 

 

Quality Impact Assessment Tool  

 

Page 1 of 14 
 

Project Title Closure of Baytree House and replacement short breaks services in the independent sector  

Project Lead 

Steve Honeywill, Head of Operational Change 
Community Services Division 

Torbay and South Devon NHS FoundationTrust  

Project Start date June 2015 

Date of QIA completion February 2016 

Person completing QIA Steve Honeywill  

Project Summary 

 
In 2014 TSD community Trust published its provider commissioning strategy for learning disabilities 
(LD). That stated that the NHS would no longer directly provide LD services, but would ensure that 
services are in place for those people who need them.  
 
With respect to Baytree House are consulting on these two proposals: 

 The closure of Baytree House Short Breaks Unit run by TSDFT (the NHS) 

 Our proposal for alternative Short Breaks provision.  

Last year the NHS consulted on its policy for short breaks which has been applicable since 1st April 

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 3



Page 2 of 14 
 

2015. The policy included providing eligible carers with funding for a short break in a variety of forms. 
We considered how best to ensure our policy with regard to short breaks is fair and transparent and 
supports carer’s rights under the Care Act.  
 
We also have to consider managing services on substantially reduced budgets and a financial savings 
have to be delivered from this approach as part of the budget agreed by Torbay Council.    

 

CIP prediction 

 
Net £250,000 full year effect 2016-17 

Key issues raised in 

QIA 

 
The risk of negative publicity and protest is the main concern in this project, as often occurs when 
services are modernised.  
 
Those families and carers who have particularly valued the short breaks service at Baytree may find 
this change challenging and worrisome given the service has been used for a number of years. These 
people may require additional support during any transition to new services by our staff.   
 
New services may not meet some carer’s expectations and needs.  
 

 

Summary of Quality 

Impact Assessment  

(Total 21 Domains) 

Outcome Positive Neutral Negative Not Applicable 

Number of 
Domains  5 7 1 8 

 

 

Summary of Clinical 

Risk Assessment  

(risk matrix as below) 

Impact Likelihood Risk Score 

3 3 9 

 

P
age 46



Page 3 of 14 
 

 

5x5 Clinical Risk Assessment Matrix   
             

Assessment of Impact of Risk 

Impact 1 None 2 Minor 3 Moderate 4 Major 5 Catastrophic 
Clinical 
safety 

No impact on service 
user 

Minimal impact on 
service user which could 
directly affect their 
experience but will have 
no foreseeable impact 
on health and wellbeing. 

Moderate impact on 
service user which will 
directly affect their 
experience and will 
require amendment to 
their current care 
delivery model. This may 
affect health and 
wellbeing 

Major impact on service 
user which will directly 
affect their experience 
and will require major 
changes to their current 
care delivery model. This 
is likely to affect the 
health and wellbeing of 
the individual and 
support network. 

Significant impact on 
service user which will 
radically change their 
experience with a 
potential for significant 
adverse effect on their 
health and wellbeing. 
This will affect a number 
of service users, partner 
agencies and support 
systems. 

 

Assessment of Likelihood of risk 

1 Rare 
May occur in exceptional circumstances  
(1 in 1000 or less) 

2 Unlikely 
Could occur at some time  
(1 in 100 to 1 in 1000) 

3 Possible 
Might occur at some time  
(1 in 10 to 1 in 100) 

4 Likely 
Will probably occur in most circumstances  
(1 in 10 to evens) 

5 
Almost 
certain 

Is expected to occur in most circumstances 
(evens to certain) 

P
age 47



Quality Impact Assessment Tool  

 

Page 4 of 14 
 

Quick Reference Guide 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What clinical evidence 
demonstrates best 
practice? 
 
How is this clinical 
evidence being used? 
 
What more needs to 
happen to make sure best 
practice is achieved and 
patient outcomes 
improved? 
 
 
 

Any questions? 
Appropriate professional 
lead 

Patient  
Safety 

 

Patient 

Experience and 

Involvement 

Equality and 

Diversity 

Clinical 

Effectiveness 

 

What are the current 
patient safety concerns, if 
any? 
 
How do you know that the 
service developments will 
be safe? 
 
What 
measurement/metrics will 
you use to demonstrate 
safety? 
 
Any questions: 
Sue Ball  
sueball@nhs.net 
 

What do patients and 

carers say about the 

current service? 

How will patients be 

involved in the decision-

making process? 

How will the patient 

experience be 

monitored? 

Will patient choice be 

affected? 

Anticipated level of public 

support? 

Any questions?          

Jo Hooper 

joanne.hooper@nhs.net 

How accessible is the 

current service to all 

people defined by the 9 

characteristics in the 

Equality Act 2010?  

 
How will this accessibility 

be affected by the service 

developments? 

 

How will future access to 

services be analysed and 

monitored? 

 

Any questions? 

Liz Tooby 

elizabeth.tooby@nhs.net 

P
age 48



Page 5 of 14 
 

Quality Impact Assessment tool 

In healthcare, Quality includes patient safety, patient experience and clinical effectiveness. These domains include Equality and Diversity, Dignity and 

Respect and the effects of planned changes on workforce. 
 

What is a Quality Impact Assessment (QIA)? 

This is a tool to help develop service change. It should be used at the beginning of a process to inform its development, ensuring that the core pillars of 

quality are covered and that the service is developed in a comprehensive way, based on rounded data and intelligence. The tool begins with some 

overarching questions in the quick reference guide. If there are any aspects of those questions which cannot be satisfactorily answered, there are prompts in 

the following workbook which will help provide assurance that the service is developing robustly. It is not a requirement that each section needs to be 

methodically worked through, but intended as a tool to help where there are gaps in knowledge or experience. 

 

Why undertake a QIA? 

When a change to a service/care pathway is proposed, commissioners must ensure that the proposal has only positive effects on patient safety and patient 

experience, and are evidence based, and demonstrate best practice. Only then can we be assured of high quality care. Commissioners also need to 

demonstrate that issues of workforce planning, and skills transfer, together with education and training have been appropriately considered.  This tool will 

enable commissioners to be assured that all essential factors are being considered and addressed through the development of service design.  

 

Who undertakes a QIA? 

The team responsible for service design should begin the QIA at an early stage, to ensure compliance with statutory requirements. The Quality team are 

available to discuss any areas that need clarification or guidance.  

 

Ratings  

Use the form to make notes from which the self-assessment rating can be determined. The QIA threshold result is designed to provide an assessment of the 

perceived impact that the service development will have on the quality of care delivered. Whatever the outcome of the threshold result, there may be 

individual indicators rated as having a negative impact on quality. In that case, due consideration should be given to all of these to establish how the 

scheme/plan could be changed to improve the quality impact or to ensure that on balance, the scheme is worth pursuing. In these cases, the reason for the 

decision to go ahead should be clearly documented. 

 

The QIA Threshold Key: 

Outcome Suggestion – the assessment suggests that this plan/scheme: 

Negative This development will have a negative impact   

Neutral There is no anticipated change in the impact of this development 

Positive This development will have a positive impact 

Not applicable This question is not relevant at this time 

Please take care when completing this assessment. A carefully completed assessment should safeguard against challenge at a later date. 
 

 

P
age 49



Page 6 of 14 
 

Patient Safety  
 

What is the potential impact of 
the service development on 
patient safety? 

Use these prompts to help you 
comprehensively evaluate the plans 

Information to inform self-assessment Self-
assessment 

What are the known patient 
safety issues within the current 
service? 
 
(as identified by national/local 
audits, SIRIs, incident trend 
analysis, complaints, CQC and 
other external inspections, staff 
observation/feedback) 
 

Has the current safety of the service been 
evaluated and known patient safety risks 
identified? 
 
Prompts to consider 

 Specific safety issues within this pathway 
or service. 

 Analysis of available data/information to 
identify themes and trends. 

 The way in which the planned changes 
will address the identified patient safety 
issues. 

 Impact on preventable harm. 

 
A small part of the business case for 
change related the limitations of the 
estate at Baytree and staff skills and 
equipment to satisfactorily deal with 
service users with profound learning 
disabilities.    

 
Neutral 

How will the planned changes to 
service provision provide 
evidence of improved or 
continued safe care?  

What are the current assurances in place 
for reviewing this service – if it is a new 
service what mechanisms will be used? 

 
Prompts to consider 

 Existing patient safety measures  

 Metrics to provide assurance that the 
changes made to the pathway/service are 
improving patient safety or reducing the 
risk of harm. 

 Processes to review patient safety 
measures to provide assurance. 

 
 
Not Applicable 

 
N/A 

Have staffing, skill mix and 
workload issues been 
considered within the plans? 

What assurances have the service 
providers given with regard to assessing 
their workforce requirements to deliver 
this service/pathway safely?  

 
Prompts to consider  

 Skill mix, recruitment activity, vacancy 

 
 
Not Applicable 

 
N/A 

P
age 50



Page 7 of 14 
 

levels and turnover, staff training and 
education, appraisal and personal 
development planning, and staff feedback 
(e.g. national and/or local surveys) 

Do the plans include changes to 
treatment involving medications, 
(including prescribing, 
administration or security) 

What impact will the plans have on 
medicines security and have you received 
assurance as to how any risks will be 
mitigated?  
 
Prompts to consider 

 Patient safety.  

 Competency in medicines administration. 

 Systems in place to ensure appropriate 
monitoring of patient outcomes/safety. 

 
Not Applicable 

N/A 

Will the plans impact positively 
or negatively on the 
organisation’s duty to protect 
children, young people and 
adults? 
 

Protocols to consider include: 

 The NHS Constitution,  

 Partnership working,  

 Safeguarding children or adults 

 
Not Applicable 

Neutral  

Do the planned changes require 
ratification through a 
governance process? 

In the event of a legal challenge, how 
thorough is the ratification process? 
 
Prompts to consider 

 Current statutes / professional standards 
e.g. Mental Capacity Act, Mental Health 
Act, Dangerous Drugs Act, Children’s’ Act, 
No Secrets, GMC, NMC etc 

 Involvement of the appropriate specialist  

 Responsible committees within each 
organisation and across the pathway 

(Please note these may be outlined within 
the NICE Guidance) 

 
These changes have been subject to an 
engagement/co-design process and 
formal public consultation. 
 

 
N/A  

 

 

 

P
age 51



Page 8 of 14 
 

Clinical Effectiveness 
 
Please look through the 
evidence required below and 
respond to those that relate to 
your service development. 
 

 
 

Use these prompts to help you 
comprehensively evaluate the plans  

 
The CCG supports the use of NICE 

guidance where available and the use 
of NICE Quality Standards. 

 
 
 

Information to inform self-assessment 

 
 
 

Self-
assessment 

Are there NICE Guidance and/or 
Quality Standards associated 
with this business case/service 
change/redesign? 

 

 Which NICE Quality Standards are 
identified? 

 If there is no relevant Quality Standard, 
has other accredited evidence been 
sourced? If yes, please state which. 

 If there is no relevant accredited 
evidence, will good practice be defined 
by carrying out research? 

 Are there protocols or guidelines 
written which specifies good practice? 

 
None relevant 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
N/A  

Are the planned changes or 
service re-design in line with the 
most up-to-
date guidance ensuring the 
business case is evidence-
based? 

 

NICE baseline assessment tool 
can be accessed from: 
www.nice.org.uk  
 

 Has a baseline assessment against the 
recommendations/indicators been 
undertaken?  

 Does the plan reflect the Quality 
Standard Indicators? 

 Are there gaps? 

 If there are gaps, how will these be 
addressed? 
 

 
Changes comply with The Care Act 2014 
and Guidance and the NHS own local 
provider Commissioning Strategy approved 
in 2014.  .  

 
Positive 

Has the NICE commissioning 
Costing Tools been used? 

 

 Use NICE costing tools alongside the 
guidance, where available.  These can 
be accessed from: www.nice@org.uk 
 

Not applicable   
N/A 

What plans are in place for 
clinical audit or evaluation once 

 Audit against standards outlined in 
NICE guidance or professional 

Not Applicable, not a health facility but adult 
social care.   

 
N/A 

P
age 52

http://www.nice.org.uk/
http://www.nice@org.uk/


Page 9 of 14 
 

changes have been imbedded 
into practice? 

 

standards. Use the NICE clinical audit 
tool where available www.nice@org.uk 
 

Health Outcomes for patients   What are the expected health 
outcomes for patients? 

 How will the success against your 
expected health outcomes be 
measured? 

 How do these compare with other 
available treatment or care pathway 
alternatives? 

 

Not Applicable   
N/A 

 

Patient Experience 
What is the potential impact 
of the service development 
on patient experience? 

 
Use these prompts to help you 

comprehensively evaluate the plans  
 

 
Information to inform self-assessment 

Self-
assessment 

What do patients and carers 
say about the current 
service? 
 
 

Use positive and negative feedback from: 

 PALS and complaints,  

 Patient Opinion, 

  surveys,  

 real time feedback,  

 focus groups, 

  LINk/Healthwatch. 
 

Carers from the co-design meetings 
between August and October (3 sessions) 
have highlighted the following.  

 

 Concern about the quality, extent and 
reliability of alternative short breaks 
provision in the independent sector of 
Baytree closes.  

 

 Help needed managing personal budgets 
and associated activity. 

 

 Meeting the needs of very complex 
people, including those in receipt of 
Continuing Health Care. 

 

 The use and efficiency of The Baytree 
Short Breaks Unit has been a key 

Positive 

P
age 53

http://www.nice@org.uk/


Page 10 of 14 
 

discussion point. Carers value its 
reliability and quality; the trust had 
presented the case that the unit is not 
sustainable financially and estate terms. 

 

How will patients, carers 
and key stakeholders be 
involved in the decision-
making process around the 
development of this 
service? 
 

 At what point in the decision-making 
process will patients and public have a 
chance to influence the service 
development? 

 What methods will be used to involve 
patients, public and stakeholders? 

 Has advice been sought from the Strategic 
Public Involvement Group as to how best to 
manage this? 

 

Following three Co-design sessions in 
August, September and October 2015 we 
then have proceeded to a formal 
consultation. The Co-design sessions were 
inclusive and transparent. We listened to 
carers concerns and the features that they 
valued in the service at Baytree so these 
elements can feature in alternative services 
in the independent sector. We have also 
been very open about the financial 
requirements due to austerity that are part 
of the reasons for closing Baytree, the 
limitations of the estates and the low 
occupancy of the service making it 
unsustainable.      

Formal public Consultation anticipated to 
run from late November 2015 to late 
January 2015. All those involved in the Co-
design phase will be consulted.  

Communication has been comprehension 
and regular with Baytree carers and other 
stakeholders such as mencap, Carers 
groups, parents in transitions and Children’s 
Services.  

Specifically we are seeking responses to 
the following questions: 

1. Do you agree with our proposals to 

close Baytree House and provide       
alternative bed and non-bed  based 

Positive 

P
age 54



Page 11 of 14 
 

short breaks? 
 

2. What are the features of a good 
            short break service, in your  view?   
             Please list the aspects.  
 
3  Are there any unique features about 
            the service provided at Baytree? 
  
4 Are there any aspects of the service  
            at Baytree which you think could be  
 improved? 
 
5 If you have chosen not to use    
            Baytree  would you be able to   
           outline the reasons? 
 
6 If you have considered other  
            providers, please give us any   
            feedback you have on them? 
 
7           Do you think this proposal is unfair  
             towards any group of people (with  
             regards to their gender, ethnicity,  
             age, religion, disability or     
             sexuality)? 

The consultation ran 4-12-15 to 5-2-16 
following approval by the Trust Board and 
Council Scrutiny.  

1-2-1’s were available to carers and parents 
during the consultation period, three of 
these took place 15-12-15. The Trust 
attended further meetings with carers during 
the consultation period. 

How will the service 
development improve the 
patient experience? 

 Clarity about our In house unit and 
extension of provision ands choice to aid 
personal budgets.  

Neutral 

P
age 55



Page 12 of 14 
 

Improve choice and flexibility, but concerns 
about reliability and emergency provision 
 

How will the patient 
experience of the new 
service be monitored? 
 

 How will feedback be collected?  

 Who will be analysing it and when? 

Through personal review and planned user 
engagement  

Neutral  

Will patient choice be 
affected? 
 

 Will choice be reduced, increased or stay 
the same? 

 Do the plans support the compassionate 
and personalised care agenda? 
 

Not patients, adult social care  
Choice will be increased 

 
Positive 

What level of public support 
for this service development 
is anticipated? 
 

Do you expect people to: 

 be supportive,  

 be a little concerned or   

 contact their MP or the press as a result of 
their objections? 

 
 

There is potential for a negative response to 
the proposal  as the unit is well regarded.  

 
Negative 

Need a tool to help you?: 
http://www.institute.nhs.uk/quality_and_service_improvement_tools/quality_and_service_improvement_tools/patient_perspectives.html 
 

 

Equality and Diversity 

 

What is the potential impact 
of the service development 
on equality and diversity? 

 
 

Use these prompts to help you 
comprehensively evaluate the plans  

 
 

 
 

Information to inform self-assessment 

 
Self-

assessment 

 
How accessible is the 
current service to people 
defined by the 9 
characteristics in the 
Equality Act 2010? 

 Age 

 What kind of monitoring data is available to 
understand the current profile of patients 
who use the service? 

 Has any research been done to look at 
whether different groups have different 
needs, experiences, issues and priorities in 

 
 
Access to Baytree is limited by capacity and 
the estate, use of the alternative provision 
will improve access and plurality     

 
 
 Neutral  

P
age 56

http://www.institute.nhs.uk/quality_and_service_improvement_tools/quality_and_service_improvement_tools/patient_perspectives.html


Page 13 of 14 
 

 Disability 

 Gender re-assignment 

 Marriage and civil 
partnership. 

 Pregnancy and maternity 

 Race including 
nationality and ethnicity 

 Religion or belief 

 Sex 

 Sexual orientation 
 

relation to the service development? 

 Are there currently any problem areas for 
equality of access?  

 
What is the expected impact 
of this service development 
for people defined by the 
above characteristics?  

 

 Have potential access issues been 
considered?  

 If the service development will have an 
impact on any of these groups, how will 
equality of access or care be addressed? 

 What mechanisms will be in place to 
evaluate continuing accessibility? 

 
None discernible  

 
Neutral  

How will accessibility be 
monitored? 

 How will monitoring information be used to 
understand access issues? 

 Who will be responsible for monitoring? 

Through delivery of personal outcomes 
Contract monitoring of providers 

 
Positive  

Have you considered other 
groups and how your 
planned changes might 
impact on them: 

 People with Dementia 

 Migrant workers,  

 Homeless individuals and 
families,  

 Sex workers,  

 Gypsies and travellers, 

 Rurally isolated, 

 Low socio-economic 
status,  

 People who may find it 
hard to access the service 

 Has access from marginalised groups been 
considered in the development of this 
service? 

 If there are any issues arising, how will 
these be addressed? 

 

 
None identified  
 

 
Neutral 

P
age 57



Page 14 of 14 
 

or are difficult to reach 
and talk to. 

 

 

P
age 58



 1 

Budget proposals and Service change : Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 

 Officer Name: Steve Honeywill Position: Head of Operational Change  

Business Unit: Community Services Division Directorate: Operations 

Executive Lead:  Date: February 2016  

 
The council and its partners are facing a significant challenge in the savings it needs to make over the next couple of years. This Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) has been developed as a tool to enable business units to fully consider the impact of their proposals on the community.  As a 
council we need to ensure that we are able to deliver the savings that we need to make while mitigating against any negative or adverse impacts 
on particular groups across our communities. 
 
This EIA will evidence that the Council have fully considered the impact of the proposed changes and has carried out appropriate consultation on 
those changes with the key stakeholders. This EIA and the evidence provided within it will allow Councillors/Trust Board members to make 
informed decisions as part of the decision-making process regarding the council’s budget.   
 
 
 
Executive Lead / Head Sign off:  
 

Executive Lead(s) Sonja Manton to October 15 
Liz Davenport from October 15 
 

Executive 
Head: 

Steve Honeywill 

Date: Draft one co- design August 15 
Draft two consultation start 
December 2015 
Final draft consultation close 
February 2016 

Date:  February 2016  

 
 
  

P
age 59

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 4



 2 

Summary from Overall Budget Proposals:  
Copy from Overall Budget Proposal template 
 

Proposals – Outline  

 
Savings for 2016/17 Implementat

ion Cost 
Include brief 

outline 
+ year 

incurred 

Delivery  
When will 

this 
proposal 
realise 

income / 
savings 

Risks / impact of proposals 

 Potential risks 

 Impact on community 

 Knock on impact to other agencies 

 If statutory service please state 
relevant legislation section and 
Act together with any statutory 
guidance issued.   

Type of 
decision 

Inco
me 
£ 

000’s 

Budget 
reduction 

£ 000’s In
te

rn
a
l 

M
in

o
r 

M
a

jo
r 

In 2014 TSD community Trust 
published its provider 
commissioning strategy for learning 
disabilities (LD). That stated that the 
NHS would no longer directly 
provide LD services, but would 
ensure that services are in place for 
those people who need them.  
 
We are consulting on these two 
proposals: 

 The closure of Baytree 

House Short Breaks Unit run 

by TSDFT (the NHS) 

 Our proposal for alternative 

Short Breaks provision.  

Last year the NHS consulted on its 
policy for short breaks which has 
been applicable since 1st April 2015. 
The policy included providing 
eligible carers with funding for a 
short break in a variety of forms. We 
considered how best to ensure our 
policy with regard to short breaks is 

 £250,000  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2016/17 
full year 

 
There is potential for negative 
response/publicity at the consultation 
phase. 
 
This could be viewed in the wider 
context of budgetary pressures 
however; our arrangements do 
require review and need to provide 
fairer outcomes and equity across the 
board. 
 
Baytree House has a small but long-
standing cohort of carers to rely on 
the facility for Short-Breaks and value 
the service highly. Some of these 
carers are opposed to the closure of 
the unit and providing short-breaks in 
the independent sector.  
 
Key concerns for carers 
* Quality of  and access to 
alternatives in the independent 
* Potential stress and uncertainty of 
transition to any new arrangements.  
* Loss of Baytree could potentially 

  
 

Yes 

P
age 60



 3 

Proposals – Outline  

 
Savings for 2016/17 Implementat

ion Cost 
Include brief 

outline 
+ year 

incurred 

Delivery  
When will 

this 
proposal 
realise 

income / 
savings 

Risks / impact of proposals 

 Potential risks 

 Impact on community 

 Knock on impact to other agencies 

 If statutory service please state 
relevant legislation section and 
Act together with any statutory 
guidance issued.   

Type of 
decision 

Inco
me 
£ 

000’s 

Budget 
reduction 

£ 000’s In
te

rn
a
l 

M
in

o
r 

M
a

jo
r 

fair and transparent and supports 
carer’s rights under the Care Act.  
 
We also have to consider managing 
services on substantially reduced 
budgets and a financial savings 
have to be delivered from this 
approach as part of the budget 
agreed by Torbay Council.    
 

result in breakdown in long term care 
in the family home for older carers.   
 
 

 

P
age 61



 4 

 
 
 

Section 1: Purpose of the proposal/strategy/decision 
 

No Question Details  
1. Clearly set out the 

proposal and what 
is the intended 
outcome. 

 

The closure of Baytree House Short Breaks unit run by TSDFT (the NHS) by 31/3/2016 or early in the 

2016/17 financial year. 

Our proposal is to re-provide these short breaks in alternative Short Breaks provision in the independent 

sector.  

2. Who is intended to 
benefit / who will 
be affected? 

 
Carers and personal budget holders who have previously accessed short breaks at Baytree House.  
 
The alternative provision in the independent sector is for this cohort and service users for whom Baytree House 
has not been suitable due to its estate or other limitations. We also be mindful of providing more choice than 
currently for personal budget holders and planning for young people and families in transition who will be future 
users of short-breaks and will require more flexibility. 
 
 

  

P
age 62



 5 

Section 2: Equalities, Consultation and Engagement 
 

Torbay Council has a moral obligation as well as a duty under the Equality Act 2010 to eliminate discrimination, promote good relations and advance 
equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and people who do not.   
 
The Equalities, Consultation and Engagement section ensures that, as a council, we take into account the Public Sector Equality Duty at an early 
stage and provide evidence to ensure that we fully consider the impact of our decisions/proposals on the Torbay community. 
 

Evidence, Consultation and Engagement 
 
 

No Question Details 

3. 
 

Have you considered 
the available evidence?  Yes, information with regard to occupancy and sustainability of Baytree as a unit financially, in estate terms and 

for future demand.  
 
Also the requirement to extend market choice for users 
 
Implementation of the requirements of the Trust Provider Commissioning Strategy.  
 
We have carried out an extensive engagement using a co-design model over 5 sessions at different times. All 
users families and carers of Baytree have been invited, families in transition and other stakeholder and those 
with an interest in learning disabilities such as Mencap and Health Watch. During the consultation period 1-2-
1’s were offered, and further face to face forums occurred with carers during December and January.       

P
age 63



 6 

No Question Details 

4. How will / have you* 
consulted on the 
proposal? 
 
 
*delete as appropriate 

 

Following three Co-design sessions (five meetings) in August, September and October 2015 we then have 
proceeded to a formal consultation. The Co-design sessions were inclusive and transparent. We listened to 
carers concerns and the features that they valued in the service at Baytree so these elements can feature in 
alternative services in the independent sector. We have also been very open about the financial requirements 
due to austerity that are part of the reasons for closing Baytree, the limitations of the estates and the low 
occupancy of the service making it unsustainable.      

Formal public Consultation Ran from 4th December 2015 and close of 5th February 2016.     

Specifically we are seeking responses to the following questions:  

 
1. Do you agree with our proposals to close Baytree House and provide alternative bed and non-bed 

based short breaks? 
 

  
2. What are the features of a good short break service, in your view? Please list the aspects that matter 

to you. 
 

 
3. Are there any unique features about the service provided at Baytree? 

 

 
4. Are  there any aspects of the service at Baytree which you think could be  

 Improved? 
 

 
5. If you have chosen not to use Baytree would you be able to outline the  

 Reasons? 
 

 
6. If have considered other providers, please give us any feedback you have  

 On them. 
 

 
7. Do you think this proposal is unfair towards any group of people (with regards to their gender, 

ethnicity, age, religion, disability or sexuality)? 
 

P
age 64



 7 

No Question Details 

5. Outline the key findings 
 
 

This section is included in the Board consultation report with an appendix of verbatim feedback from carers with 
respect to the Trust’s proposals.   
 
A full and transparent report with regard to the consultation will be reported to the NHS Trust Board and Torbay 
Council’s Health Scrutiny Committee as the decision making and scrutinising bodies.  
 

6. What amendments may 
be required as a result 
of the consultation? 
 

None  
 
The Consultation approved by the Trust Board and Council Scrutiny from 4-12-15 to 5-2-15, it is anticipated 
that a decision will be made at the March 2016 Trust Board.1-2-1’s were  also available to Carers and parents 
during the consultation period, on 15/12/15.     
 

 
  

P
age 65



 8 

Positive and Negative Equality Impacts TO BE UPDATED ONCE CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN (Completed as at February 2016)  
 

No Question Details  

7. Identify the potential 
positive and negative 
impacts on specific 
groups 

It is not enough to state that a proposal will affect everyone equally.  There should be more in-depth 
consideration of available evidence to see if particular groups are more likely to be affected than others – use 
the table below.  You should also consider workforce issues.  If you consider there to be no positive or negative 
impacts use the ‘neutral’ column to explain why.  EVERY BOX MUST BE COMPLETED – if there is no impact 
please state either ‘No Positive Impact’ or ‘No Negative Impact’.  

 Positive Impact Negative Impact Neutral Impact 

Older or younger people 
 

  X 
 

People with caring 
responsibilities 

  X 

People with a disability 
 

  X 
 

Women or men 
 

  X 
 

People who are black or 
from a minority ethnic 
background (BME)  

  X 
 

Religion or belief (including 
lack of belief) 

  X 

People who are lesbian, gay 
or bisexual 

  X 

People who are 
transgendered 

  X 

People who are in a 
marriage or civil partnership 

  X 

Women who are pregnant / 
on maternity leave 

  X 
 

Socio-economic impacts 
(Including impact on child 
poverty issues and 
deprivation) 

  X 

P
age 66



 9 

No Question Details  

Public Health impacts (How 
will your proposal impact on 
the general health of the 
population of Torbay) 

  X 

8a. Cumulative Impacts – 
Council wide 
(proposed changes 
elsewhere which might 
worsen the impacts 
identified above) 
 

Are any cumulative impacts identified across your service area from proposals in other departments OR from 
other service areas? Please explain what these might be (you may need to revisit this section once proposals 
have been further defined) 
 
NONE 

8b. Cumulative Impacts – 
Other public services 
(proposed changes 
elsewhere which might 
worsen the impacts 
identified above) 
 

Are any cumulative impacts identified across your service area from proposals in other public services or partner 
organisations? Please explain what these might be (you may need to revisit this section once proposals have 
been further defined) 
 
NONE 

 
 

 
Section 3: Mitigating action TO BE UPDATED ONCE CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN 

 

No Action Details 

9. Summarise any negative 
impacts and how these 
will be managed? 
 

Those families and carers who have particularly valued the short breaks service at Baytree may find this change 
challenging and worrisome given the service has been used for a number of years. These people may require 
additional support during any transition to new services by our staff. Any extended transition period beyond 
31/3/16 will be recommended.   
 
New services will not meet some carers expectations and needs in terms of choice, access and quality  
 

 
 

P
age 67



 10 

Section 4: Monitoring  
 

No Action Details 

10. Outline plans to monitor 
the actual impact of your 
proposals 
 
 

The service changes as a result of the proposed closure of Baytree upon individuals will be monitored at 
individual review.  
 
New arrangements for short breaks will be monitored by the Trust’s care teams and commissioners.  
  

 
Section 5: Recommended course of action –  

 

No Action Outcome Tick 
 

Reasons/justification for recommended action 

11. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

State a recommended 
course of action 
Policy is implemented as 
outlined above in Section 
1 
 
 

Outcome 1: No major change required - 
EIA has not identified any potential for 
adverse impact in relation to equalities and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been 
taken 
 

 

See comment to outcome 4  

Outcome 2: Adjustments to remove 
barriers – Action to remove the barriers 
identified in relation to equalities have been  
taken or actions identified to better promote 
equality 
 

 

 

Outcome 3: Continue with proposal - 
Despite having identified some potential for 
adverse impact / missed opportunities in 
relation to equalities or to promote equality. 
Full justification required, especially in relation 
to equalities, in line with the duty to have ‘due 
regard’.  
 

  

Closure of Baytree and the user of alternative provision 
will impact upon these carers who have historically used 
the service in a significant fashion.  
  
We will need to address any concerns in practice and 
the issues carers subsequently make.  
 
Potential concern for some service is a possible lack of 
provision in the residential market or provision that 

P
age 68



 11 

meets their aspirations. This may lead to problems with 
short-break users finding a vacant bed to place their 
relative and means that forward planning could be 
difficult. 

 
Meeting the needs of very complex people, including 
those in receipt of Continuing Health Care, 
 

Outcome 4: Stop and rethink – EIA has 
identified actual or potential unlawful 
discrimination in relation to equalities or 
adverse impact has been identified 
 

 

Some carers in the consultation feel the proposal in 
unfair to disabled people and those with a learning 
disability.   

 
 

P
age 69



 

 

 
 
 

Consultation on the future of 
Baytree House short breaks unit for 
people with learning disabilities in 

Torbay 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

www.torbayandsouthdevon.nhs.uk  

Page 70

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 5

http://www.torbayandsouthdevon.nhs.uk/


 
 

 
 

Welcome  
 

Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust is seeking your views on the future 

of Baytree House, its in-house short breaks unit in Torbay.  

 

This consultation document provides you with the background to the Trusts 

proposals and why there is a need to change the way that short breaks (respite) are 

provided to people with a learning disability in Torbay. The consultation will provide 

you with an opportunity to formally share your views on the proposals. 

The Trust wants to make the right decisions for individuals and their carers, whilst 

also considering the tough choices that need to made in order to ensure services 

remain fit for purpose, viable and financially sustainable in the future.  

 

Why change is needed?  
 

In 2014, the local NHS published its Learning Disability Operational Commissioning 

Strategy.  

The document outlines how the Trust will commission and provide quality support to 

people with a learning disability and their carers in the future. The strategy sets out 

why it is necessary to deliver changes in learning disability services in Torbay. It 

looks at the types of services which need to be provided now and in the future. It 

also describes what needs to change locally to modernise services and improve and 

enhance the lives of people with a learning disability in a challenging financial 

climate.   

The strategy explained that the NHS in due course would no longer be a direct 

provider of learning disability services and that we would be implementing a change 

programme in all areas of provision. Successful changes have already occurred in 

day services, with the creation of the high needs service at Hollacombe.    

Last year the NHS also consulted on its policy for short breaks and this has been in 

place since 1st April 2015. The policy included a new approach to providing eligible 

carers, with funding for a short break, much more options for the type of break they 

have. The policy also brought the Trusts approach to short breaks up to date in 

respect of supporting carer’s rights under the Care Act. This is a new piece of 

government legislation brought in from April 2015 to ensure care and support is more 

consistent across the country.  

Why change is needed for Baytree House?  

The Baytree House short breaks service is situated in a large traditional Torbay 

Victorian Villa. The building is located in Croft Road, central Torquay. The building is 

Page 71



 
 

 
 

owned by Torbay Council and leased to the NHS on a ‘peppercorn’ basis, meaning 

the rent is given at a low cost.  

Currently Baytree House has a maximum capacity of eight beds, however the 

average occupancy is approximately between three and four placements. The total 

cost of running the unit including staffing costs is £509,000 per year.   

The structure of the building means that several of the bedrooms are inaccessible for 

wheelchair users and people with significant physical disabilities. The building also 

has a number of constraints meaning it cannot be altered, for example ceiling 

tracking that enables the safe hoisting of people and movement around the premises 

for people with complex physical needs cannot be installed. 

There is also a well evidenced change in the demographics of people with learning 

disabilities. The  numbers of people with profound and multiple disabilities is going 

up, and although it is good news that many people with a learning disability now 

enjoy a longer life expectancy it does mean that the service has seen an increase in 

the  physical frailty and mobility problems that are associated with old age. Therefore 

Baytree House is not always the best care setting for individuals with these more 

complex needs.  

In the last financial year Baytree House had an average occupancy of 3.6 residents 

per week, with the majority of placements made at the weekends. This gives a 45 

percent occupancy rate for short breaks, meaning that per year each bed currently 

costs approximately £125,000 to run. There has been a downward trend in use over 

the last four years with a 17 percent reduction in bed occupancy.   

With this is mind, we believe change is necessary. We want local services to be the 

best they can be and meet the commitment set out in the learning disability strategy 

but in order to do so we must change the way they are provided. By doing so we can 

create a wider breadth of sustainable services that meet people’s needs, now, and in 

the future. 

 

Working with you  

Our change programme for people with learning disability has used a “co-design” 

model. This involved a series of meeting with parents and carers, prior to this formal 

consultation, to seek their views and help shape the proposals that are being put 

forward in this document. The co-design approach has enabled carers, parents and 

individuals involved have an influence over the type of short break they can access 

in the future.  By working together with carers the Trust believes it can design a 

range of alternatives that not only give people more choice and control over their 

chosen short break but ensure quality, reliability and financial sustainability in 

services.  

Page 72



 
 

 
 

Carers of Baytree House users have been invited to these meetings, in addition to 

carers and parents of children and adults in transition, as well as wider groups of 

carers of people with a learning disability or interested parties.  

Through co-design, the Trust has discussed new options for short breaks and looked 

at ways in which carers can use and combine their personal budget allowances to 

find better-suited alternatives to current provision. This included a session with five 

independent sector providers of bed based and alternative community based short 

breaks. The providers were able to talk about what services they could offer and 

carers were able to discuss concerns they may have had about any alternative 

provision. The Trust also shared its rationale for change, discussed how the future 

may work and gave its commitment to support to carers and parents throughout the 

planning and transition of any change process.  

In the previous consultation work held in 2012 and our co-design work this year with 

regard to day services and short breaks, the following themes have emerged from 

people with learning disabilities and their carers.   

 

 People felt that there should be more choice 

 People want to improve community participation, independence and choice 

 People and their carers said they needed help accessing those opportunities 

and using a personal budget 

 People said that building based services would still be required for people with 

the most complex needs 

 People also said that new services should be properly monitored quality 

assured and reliable.  

 

What we are proposing 
 

To create a wider breadth of sustainable services that meet people’s needs now and 

in the future the Trust is proposing to close Baytree House. The Trust will work with 

carers and individuals to provide alternative short breaks that better meet people’s 

needs.  

This means that people would no longer receive short breaks at Baytree House but 

by combining personal budgets and working with carers, a range high quality, flexible 

replacement short breaks would still be available. These would be provided by a 

range of providers from the independent sector, to offer people more choice and 

control over the type of short break they would like to access.  

The Trust is proposing to close Baytree House in April 2016. For all those using 

Baytree House as a short breaks option, the Trust has given its commitment to 

ensure improved support and planning for people, to help them use personal 

Page 73



 
 

 
 

budgets to meet their outcomes and manage their money to support a new short 

break of their choice. 

How to have your say  
 

The consultation will run from Friday 4th December 2015 closing on Friday 5th 

February 2016. It will run for a total of nine weeks to account for the Christmas 

break. 
You will be able to have your say by completing the consultation questions at the 

end of this document and returning it to the freepost address or alternatively by going 

on to our website and completing the electronic form.   

We want to provide as many opportunities as possible for parents,carers and people 

with learning disabilities  to understand the proposals and share their views and 

feedback. As part of this formal consultation, we will give you the opportunity for 

further face-to-face dialogue. You will be able to book a one to one slot at a 

consultation surgery on Tuesday 15th December from 9am- 4pm with Jo Williams, 

Assistant Director Adult Social Care and/or Steve Honeywill, Head of Operational 

Change. This will enable carers and parents to clarify issues and speak confidentially 

about any further concerns that they were unable to raise or address as part of co-

design meetings.  

If you are unable to attend a slot at this session you can call 01803 217695 to 

arrange an alternative time to either meet or talk directly to one of the team via 

telephone.  

All of the feedback from the co-design meetings, surgery session, over the telephone 

and the consultation will be incorporated into the consultation report for a decision by 

the NHS Trust Board and Torbay Council Scrutiny.  

Consultation questions  

The Trust now needs your help. Please share your views with respect to the 

proposed closure of the short breaks unit at Baytree House and the proposal to 

provide alternative short breaks. When taking part in the consultation please 

consider the following:  

 

1. Has the Trust has taken all the facts into account in its proposals and if you 

think they are fair? 

2. Do you have any concerns you may have about any of the proposals outlined 

in this consultation document, and how these concerns could be reduced? 

3. What support you would like if any changes were to go ahead? 

 

Page 74



 
 

 
 

The Trust is seeking your views on the following questions. If there is not enough 

space to write your response please attach additional sheets and these will be 

included, along with your response.  

 

1. Do you agree with our proposals to close Baytree House and provide alternative bed 
and community short breaks?          Yes         No    

Additional comments  
 
 
 
 

2. Do you currently use Baytree House?     Yes          No    
 

3. Do you feel you have been able to help shape and influence the proposals by taking 
part in the co-design process?                 Yes          No    

 

4. What are the features of a good short break service, in your view? Please list the 
aspects that matter to you. 

 
 
  
 

5. Are there any unique features about the service provided at Baytree you would like 
other providers to continue? 

 
 
 
 

6. Are there any aspects of the service at Baytree which you think could be improved? 
 
 
 
 

7. If you have chosen not to use Baytree would you be able to outline the reasons? 
 
 
   
 

8. If have considered other providers, please give us any feedback you have on them. 
 
 
 
 
 

9. Do you think this proposal is unfair towards any group of people (with regards to 
their gender, ethnicity, age, religion, disability or sexuality)? 
 

 
 

Page 75



 
 

 
 

How to respond  

You can take part in the formal consultation by post, online, telephone, or attending a 

surgery session. Any feedback you have already submitted as part of the co-design 

meetings will still be taken into consideration in the final report.  

Please respond to the consultation no later than Friday 5th February 2016.  

Post: You can submit your formal response by completing the form above and 

sending via post to:   

FAO Steve Honeywill 

FREEPOST( RRLE-KHTU-ZGEU)  

Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust 

Bay House 

Riviera Park 

Torquay  

TQ2 7TD 

Online: You can complete and submit the consultation form via the Trust website 

www.torbayandsouthdevon.nhs.uk/about-us/news-and-publications/consultations/  

Consultation surgery: If you would prefer to speak to someone in person you can 

book at slot at the consultation surgery on Tuesday 15th December 2015 from 9am- 

4pm. To book a suitable slot please call 01803 217695.  

Telephone: To speak to someone via the telephone please call 01803 217695 

between 10am-4pm, Monday to Friday, you may not be able to speak to a 

representative straight away but you will be given a call back by one the team. You 

can also leave message, requesting a call.  

Thank you  

Thank you for taking the time to come along to the co-design meetings, read this 

document, and respond to the consultation. We hope that it gives you a clear 

understanding of why the Trust is proposing changes to short breaks in Torbay.  

Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust is very proud of the services it runs 

and we know that you are too. By working together, we can help shape the future of 

short breaks, ensuring that any alternative provides high quality, sustainable and 

modern care to you and your loved ones.   

All of your comments from the co-design meeting and consultation will feed into the 

decision making process.  

 

Page 76

http://www.torbayandsouthdevon.nhs.uk/about-us/news-and-publications/consultations/


 

 

 

 

Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ) 

Consultation on the future of Baytree House short breaks 
unit for people with learning disabilities in Torbay 
 

1. Why do we need to consider new options for short breaks?  

Over the last four years we have seen a decline in the number of people using the Baytree 

House facility. A factor in this is that many people are now moving away from traditional 

overnight placements and opting for more flexible care arrangements.  

Those who do use the unit have increasingly more complex care needs meaning Baytree 

House may not always be the most appropriate care setting.  

Our operational commissioning strategy for people with a learning disability was approved in 

2015 and following a public consultation, we revised our short breaks policy in April 2015. 

These both made a commitment to ensure that carers and clients can access a wider range 

of mainstream and support services. The implementation of the Care Act will also provide 

people with the opportunity to create a support plan that gives them more choice and control 

of the services they receive and we need to look at ways in which we can implement this.   

2. What options have been considered to keep Baytree House open?  

A number of other options have been considered to improve the occupancy at Baytree 

House including, using the unit for other activity, looking for a new provider to run services 

from the existing building or moving Baytree House to another site.  

Whilst there would be some advantages to these options a full assessment has been done 

and by closing Baytree House and reinvesting up to £250,000 from your combined personal 

budgets into new services, we can provide a wider range of support services that will ensure 

we can better meet peoples care needs and ensure financial sustainability.  

A social enterprise would not have been a viable option in this case.  

3. There has been a delay in assessment reviews. Could you not just reassess 

everyone and increase the amount of referrals into Baytree House to improve 

the occupancy?  

Whilst delays in assessments may occur from time to time this does not account for the low, 

and consistently reducing, level of occupancy for the unit over the last four years.  People 

are already changing the way they use short breaks and reducing occupancy is an ongoing 

problem for the unit, whilst any delays in reassessment are sporadic and temporary.  

4. I don’t use Baytree House, so what does this have to do with me?  

Although you may not use Baytree House currently, we still want your direct input in this 

process. As a carer of a person with a learning disability, you may well want to access a new 

or alternative type of short break in the future. By taking part in the consultation you will be 

Page 77

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 6



 

 

helping to create a short breaks market that will provide you with much more choice and 

control you should you wish to access it in future. 

 

5. Is this about saving money?  

Like any organisation the NHS has to ensure that services are cost effective. Currently the 

unit is only occupied 45 percent of the time. With staffing and building costs, it is just not 

sustainable to keep Baytree House running in its current form.  

The building will require a high level of investment in the coming years to keep it safe and up 

to standard and all this will come at a high cost.  

Like every public sector organisation we have to work within our set budget. By closing 

Baytree House we can reinvest up to £250,000 into high quality alternatives that will be 

sustainable for the future, whilst ensuring we meet our financial target.  

 

6. Will I lose a service?  

You will continue to receive services that are in line with your care needs assessment. This 

process is about working with you to find suitable alternatives that meet your needs but that 

are reliable, high quality and ensure financial sustainability for the future.  

By taking some time to work with you we can look at short breaks differently. We can create 

more choice and flexibility for people to use their personal budgets in a way that is more 

meaningful for them and in line with national policy.  

 

7. Will Baytree House close?  

It is envisaged that Baytree House will remain open until April 2016, after that new care 

provision will be put in place. This will be after a consultation has taken place and been 

evaluated and we have worked with you to find an option that best meets your needs. 

8. Do you already have alternative services in mind?  

You are the experts in your care and situation and we wanted to get your input through the 

co-design process before developing any alternative service.  

A number of options do already exist within the short breaks market and anyone who 

attended the last co-design meeting will have had the chance to see and talk to other 

providers that already exist within Torbay, our commissioners are also looking at ways in 

which we can widen the market, based on your feedback.   

Through the support planning process we want to find the very best solution for you and your 

loved ones to ensure quality, flexibility and sustainability.  

9. How can you guarantee the new service will meet my care needs?  

The Care Act, which came into force in April 2015, requires us to focus on the person, their 

needs, choices and what they want to achieve. It will put you in control of your life and the 

Page 78



 

 

care and support you receive and provide people who use services, and carers, with clear 

legal rights to a care and support plan. The Trust will ensure it uses this approach to make 

sure people receiving short breaks have choice and control.  

You will receive a care review with SPACE (Support Planning Active Communities and 

Engagement) and they will give you a full care review. This is usually done annually but will 

be brought forward as part of this process. In this you will be able to outline you needs and 

we will be able to seek out options that meet them.  

10. What if I don’t want to combine my personal budget to be part of the new short 

breaks provision?  

It is your personal budget and you can use it in whatever way you like to give you the care 

and support you need to function in your role as a carer.  

Those who do want to combine their budgets to find a new short break can do so and we will 

fully support them in this process.  

11. What will happen to the Baytree building once it has closed?  

Baytree House is owned by Torbay Council. The Trust have a lease agreement with them. 

This lease is known as a ‘peppercorn rent’ meaning the Trust pays very little for the use of 

the building. If new options are put in place and Baytree House closes the property will go 

back to Torbay Council and they will make a decision as to what happens with the site.  

Page 79



Supporting Information and Impact Assessment 
 

Service / Policy: Geoplaypark 

Executive Lead: Councillor Robert Excell 

Director / Assistant Director: Fran Hughes 

 

Version:  Date:  Author: Neil Coish/Fran Hughes 

 
 

 
Section 1:  Background Information 

 

 
1. 
 

 
What is the proposal/issue? 
 

Proposal to amend the current lease with the Community Partnership to include 
consent for the group to move forward with a sub-lease for a refreshment facilities in 
keeping with the theme of the play park and within the boundaries of the 
Geoplaypark, Paignton Green.  The income from this lease will then fund the 
maintenance/equipment of the play park going forward. 
 
This proposal is predicated on a satisfactory business case being developed by the 
Community Partnership. (See exempt appendix) 
 

 
2.   

 
What is the current situation? 
 

There are currently very limited funds available for any replacement cost of the play 
equipment; the play ground has been very successful and is attracting significantly 
high number of footfall, resulting in the useable life expectancy of the play equipment 
being dramatically reduced.  
 
The Community Partnership has investigated opportunities to provide a sink fund via 
installation of a Refreshment facility utilising the rent income to create a sink fund. 
The historical costs of repair, replacement and maintenance of the play park for the 
three years of its existence are as follows: 

 2012-2013 £25,039.165 

 2013-2014 £10,892.21 (plus the part Cost of a Park warden 25k who was 

permanently based onsite) 

 2014-2015 £24,289.26 

 2015-2016 £17,000.00 

 

 
3. 

 
What options have been considered? 
 

1. Amend the current lease with the Community Partnership in enable a sub-
Lease for a refreshment facility to cater for the play park user. This is to 

Page 80

Agenda Item 5



support the maintenance and provide a sink fund from the annual rent for the 
capital replacement costs of equipment and safety surfaces. The sink fund 
would be held by the Community partnership.(Preferred option) 

2. Phased removal of equipment, as repairs become not financially viable. 
(Authority and Community partnership may be required to repay the capital 
investment costs from Grant Funders. Negative public reaction for loss of 
valuable free play space) 

3. Amend/review the lease to transfer the asset with all liabilities to the 
Community partnership. (Community partnership have not proactively 
invested time resource (some minor reactive works) into the practicable 
running of a play park and expressed concerns over liability) 

4. Install a pay to enter system for the play park. (Not considered an option due 
to restrictions placed on by funders as part of the grant) 

 
 

 
4. 

 
How does this proposal support the ambitions and principles of the 
Corporate Plan 2015-19? 

 

 Use reducing resources to best effect. Production of business case to make 
the play park sustainable by reducing the authority’s financial pressure for 
maintenance and re-investment. 

 Reduce demand through prevention and innovation. Establish a stronger 
ownership of the space with permanent presence onsite to reduce the 
pressures on resources. 

 Integrated and joined up approach. Working with the user groups and 
Community partnership to have a clear understand and direction for the long-
term maintenance and investment of the space. 

 
 

 
5. 

 
Who will be affected by this proposal and who do you need to consult with? 
 

Community partnerships; however they have been involved in the process and idea 
for making the space sustainable. 
GeoPark Project Board – The play park is essential to the visitor experience for the 
Geopark 
Adjacent Refreshment/café Businesses within the boundaries of Paignton Green who 
could consider this unfair/further competition.  
 

6. How will you propose to consult? 
 

Consultation by the Community Partnership has already been completed on the 
concept but the lead was to be by the Community partnership. Further consultation 
required to establish the open tender process and lease would be run by the 
Community partnership who would also hold the capital (sink) fund. 
Outline Planning application already submitted by the Community partnership and is 
due to be determined in March 2016. 

 

Page 81



 

 
Section 2:  Implications and Impact Assessment 

 

 
7. 
 

 
What are the financial and legal implications? 
 

Establishing the financial impact for the production of a lease with or without capital 
investment, working alongside and advising the Community partnership. A long-term 
lease would attract more investment to build the refreshment facility; a short-term 
lease could result in a high rental value but no capital investment. 
Review of Paignton green covenant to identify space for facility without the need for 
public referendum.  
Amendment to lease with Community Partnership to enable the sub-lease. 
 
 

 
8.   

 
What are the risks? 
 

Without the investment and support funds for the playground, equipment will be 
required to be removed and not replaced within 1 to 2 years. Some items of 
equipment are already beyond repair and require replacement. (Currently in dispute 
with playground provider under warranty, however some cost for replacement will be 
required to be met by existing Torbay Playground budget) 
 
 

 
9. 

 
Public Services Value  (Social Value) Act 2012  
 

The proposal will require the amendments to the current lease Torbay Development 
Agency Estates Management Team would run this with Legal services. 

 

 
10. 

 
What evidence / data / research have you gathered in relation to this 
proposal? 
 

The recommendation has followed the wider consultation with user groups, adjacent 
leaseholders run by the Community partnership 
 
 

 
11. 

 
What are key findings from the consultation you have carried out? 
 

To protect and enhance the existing free play facility the proposal is essential to 
continue with this delivery of service. 
 

 
12. 
 

 
Amendments to Proposal / Mitigating Actions 
 
None 
 

 

Page 82



Document is Restricted

Page 83

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 85

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 2By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	4 Baytree House, Torquay
	Consultation Report
	Feedback from Consultation
	Quality Impact Assessment
	Equality Impact Assessment
	Consultation Document
	Frequently Asked Questions

	5 GeoPlay Park, Paignton - Proposed Amendment to Lease
	Appendix 1 - Covering Letter
	Appendix 2 - Business Plan


